
Summons to Meeting

Wednesday 8 February 2017

Audit Committee
Friday 17 February 2017, 10.00 am

Lonsdale Room, Allerdale House
Membership:

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chairman) Councillor John Colhoun (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston Councillor Duncan Fairbairn
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Martin Pugmire
Councillor Neil Schofield

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702556.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 
2016.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00 pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Assurance Risk and Audit Quarter three Report 2016/17  (Pages 5 - 50)

6. Assurance, Risk and Audit Strategy 2017/18  (Pages 51 - 60)



7. Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy 
and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18  (Pages 61 - 
110)

8. Certification Letter  (Pages 111 - 112)

9. Audit Plan  (Pages 113 - 130)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Monday 8 May 2017, 10.00 am
Lonsdale Room, Allerdale House



At a meeting of the Audit Committee held in Lonsdale Room, Allerdale House on 
Monday 28 November 2016 at 2.00 pm

Members

M Bainbridge (Chairman)

J I Colhoun
A Davis-Johnston

B Miskelly
N Schofield

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D S Fairbairn and M Pugmire

Staff Present

H Carruthers, D Devine, B Lennox, S Sewell and E Thompson

Also Present

J Bellard

270 Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

271 Questions 

None received.

272 Assurance Risk and Audit Report Quarter 2 16/17 

The Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager submitted a report which sought to 
inform Members of the work performed by Assurance, Risk and Audit in the 
second quarter of the financial year 2016/17 and to present the revised annual 
plan.

Chargeable time for the Assurance, Risk and Audit service for quarter two was 
76%. This was below the planned target of 84.84%. The revised plan set a 
chargeable time target at 79.90%.

Members noted the assurance activities for the quarter, which focused mainly 
on the completion of the Statutory Audit Reviews and training. The following 
reports had been submitted, detailing the reviews:

 Creditors
 Debtors
 Treasury Management
 Finance Assurance Map

Members noted the following reviews in progress at 30 September 2016:

 Capital Accounting – Complete

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 Statutory Finance Reviews – Continuous Audit Testing
 Revenues Reviews – Continuous Audit Testing
 Housing Benefits Reviews – Continuous Audit Testing
 Performance Management – Draft Report
 Contract Monitoring – Draft Report
 Flood Grants – Testing

100% of recommendations made by Assurance, Risk and Audit were accepted 
by management during the quarter.

Members noted the Corporate Risk and Issues Log.

Agreed

That the report be noted.

273 Assurance Risk and Audit Peer Review 

The Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager presented Members with a report on 
the Lancashire District Chief Auditors Group Peer Review.

The Lancashire District Chief Auditors Group had been exploring a ‘peer review’ 
process to be developed, managed and operated by the constituent authorities 
to meet the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards that an 
external assessment of the service be completed once every five years by a 
qualified, independent assessment team from outside the organisation.

Appended to the report was the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) which 
set out the broad basis and methodology upon which the constituent authorities 
agreed to participate in the scheme and how the activity would be carried out. 
The MOU had been agreed by the Council’s Corporate Management Team.

Members accepted the contents of the MOU and agreed to participate in the 
review as required.

Agreed

That the Memorandum of Understanding for the Peer Review process be 
accepted and that the Audit Committee participates in the review as required.

274 Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2016/17 

The Financial Services Manager submitted the mid-year review report on 
treasury management operations for 2016/17. The report set out to inform the 
Audit Committee of the Council’s treasury management activities during the six 
month period ending 30 September 2016. The report also provided assurances 
that treasury management activities had been undertaken in accordance with 
the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment strategy.

To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 

Page 2



Treasury Management Practices required treasury management reports – 
including the mid-year report – to be submitted to the Committee prior to 
consideration by the Council.

The mid-year report had been prepared in accordance with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management 2011 Edition and covered:

 An update on the economic environment for the first six months of the 
financial year 2016/17

 Updated interest rate forecasts
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 

update
 A review of the Council’s investment and borrowing activities during the 

period 1 April to 30 September 2016
 A review of compliance with the Council’s treasury and prudential 

indicators for 2016/17

Members noted the contents of the report.

Recommended

That Council be requested to agree that the contents of the Treasury 
Management Operations mid-year review report 2016/17 be noted.

275 Annual Audit Letter 

J Bellard, Grant Thornton presented the Audit Committee with the Annual Audit 
Letter. The letter summarised the key findings arising from the work that the 
external auditors had carried out at the Council for the year ended 31 March 
2016.

The following work had been carried out:

Financial statement opinion – the auditors gave an unqualified opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements on 31 August 2016

Value for money conclusion – the auditors were satisfied that the Council put in 
place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources during the year ended 31 March 2016

Certificate – the auditors certified that they had completed the audit of the 
Council’s accounts in accordance with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office Code of Audit Practice on 31 August 2016

Certification of grants – the auditors had carried out work to certify the Council’s 
Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and 
Pensions. The work on this was now complete. The results of the work would 
be reported to the Audit Committee in the Annual Certification Letter

Members noted the following reports issued:

Page 3



Audit Plan – March 2016
Audit Findings Report – August 2016
Annual Audit Letter – October 2016

Agreed

That the contents of the Annual Audit Letter be noted.

The meeting closed at 3.20 pm

Page 4



 Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 17 February 2017

Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the quarter ending 31 December 2016

The Reason for the Decision To inform the Committee of the work performed 
by the Assurance, Risk and Audit Team in the 
third quarter of the financial year 2016/17.

Summary of options considered N/A 

Recommendations That the report and revised plan is accepted 
subject to any additional information that the 
committee may require.

Financial / Resource Implications As outlined in the report

Legal Implications Acceptance of this report has no legal 
implications.

Community Safety Implications Acceptance of this report has no community 
safety implications.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Acceptance of this report has no Health and 
Safety implications. Consideration should be 
given to the activities reported and how they 
contribute to the organisations Risk Management 
Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Equality is considered during the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit activities.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Acceptance of the Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Team’s work provides a direct and indirect 
contribution to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities, in accordance with the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit Service Plan.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Philip Tibble

Lead Officer Emma Thompson, Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Manager
01900 702988
emma.thompson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers: Assurance, Risk and Audit reports and working papers.

1 Introduction

1.1 This is the third progress report for the financial year 2016/17.

1.2 Items covered in this report are as follows:

 Performance against the 2016/17 plan
 Assurance and consultancy activities during the quarter
 Fraud work
  Assurance, Risk and Audit activity performance, 
 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program, including survey monkey 

results
 Agreed Action follow up, and
 Training and staffing.

2 Performance against the 2016/17 Audit Plan

2.1 Time Summary 
Activity Planned 

Days
Actual 
Days

%of 
planned

Statutory Assurance Reviews 75 45.03
Assurance and Risk 53 40.03
Agreed Action Follow up 12 7.84
Completion of 2015/16 reviews 64 63.28
Other Assurance Work 57 37.20
Democratic Representation 29 14.09
Corporate Support 95 83.68
Projects 15 9.39
Advice 15 9.83
Investigations 10 2.2
Fraud Activities 25 9.73
Risk Management Facilitation 15 3.61
Total Audit Time 465 325.91 70.01%

Non-Chargeable
Management (non corporate) 5 1.55

Page 6



Training 55 49.36
Sickness / other absences 9 7.50
Meetings and Appraisals 23 18.58
Administration 25 19.29
Total Non-Chargeable Time 117 96.28 82.29%

Total Days 582 422.19 72.54%

Annual Leave
93 82.8 89.03%

Total Days 675 505 74.8%

2.2 The chargeable time for quarter three is 77.19% which is slightly below the 
planned target of 79.9%. 

3         Assurance and Consultancy Activities

3.1 The assurance activities for this quarter focused mainly on the completion of 
the planned Assurance Audit Reviews, continuous auditing and training. The 
team has made excellent progress with the Internal Audit reviews and are 
continually improving as they develop.

3.2     The following reports were submitted this quarter and can be found in the 
Appendix A to this report:

 Housing Benefits
 Council Tax
 NNDR
 Flood Grants
 Contract Monitoring
 Performance Management

3.3 The Assurance Risk and Audit Manager has continued to support the Head of 
Economic Growth with the scenario planning for the impact of Brexit on 
Allerdale and the Council as a business. Further engagement has taken place 
with the Policy Group on this subject.

3.5 The team has spent time with all officers within the Governance Service to 
create a whole of service ‘Who does What When and Why’ template. The 
Governance service is now in a stronger more resilient position when roles 
change and particularly when a new members join the team due to the way all 
tasks have a responsible officer allocated and deputies nominated where 
available. This assists managers to identify training and development needs 
and areas where additional assurances are required if a nominated deputy 
does not exist. Well done to all involved, taking the time and effort to improve 
our team as a whole. A further exercise with the ICT team has started in 
January to support the restructure process.

Page 7



3.6 The ARA Manager has met with all Members of the Senior Management 
Team to facilitate a risk management discussion, these will take place on a six 
monthly basis going forward. The objective of these meeting is to gain insight 
and information for all business areas to inform the Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Plan 2017/18 and to support the organisations Enterprise Wide Risk 
Management Framework. The areas discussed included:

 A full line by line review of all risks and mitigations owned to allow them 
to    update and evaluate their risk management responsibilities.

 Identification of opportunities, priorities and issues now and for the next 
six months.

 Promotion of the support services ARA can offer as business partners 
and identifying potential projects for consideration in the 2017/18 plan.

 Challenges and changes that may impact on governance, risk 
management and or the control environment.

As a result of our ongoing engagement with SMT we are experiencing an 
increased amount of requests to provide ongoing project assurance and risk 
management facilitation, this is encouraging and is indicative of how the 
organisations risk maturity is moving forward.

3.7 Consultancy and advice services have been provided by the ARA team in the 
following areas:

 Review of the Lillyhall Business Case and facilitation of techniques 
management can use for risk identification and evaluation

 Ongoing advice in relation to the collection of car parking income 
returning to the in-house service (independent assurance work in 
progress in relation to reconciliation of parking income)

4 Corporate Fraud

4.1     The main focus for the team has been driving the National Fraud Initiative 
Data Matching Exercise 16/17. This is completed every two years and 
involves a number of different departments securely submitting their data to 
the Cabinet Office via the NFI portal. Drop in sessions and fair processing 
notices have been provided to ensure the timetable was delivered on time. 
Datasets will be released in January 2017 for further investigation by the 
relevant departments.

5     Progress with the Annual Plan

5.1    The following reviews were in progress at 31 December 2016.

Audit Title Status 
Car Parking Income Draft Report
Statutory Finance Reviews Continuous Audit Testing
ICT Review Testing in progress
Receipts and Banking Testing in progress

Page 8



Value for Money Testing in progress
Risk Management Planning

5.2 Management’s acceptance of recommendations – 100 % for this quarter

Assurance, Risk and Audit is designed to add value and assist management 
in achieving the organisations overall key aims and objectives. An indicator for 
ARA performance is that 100% of all recommendations made are accepted by 
management, this was achieved in quarter two. 

5.3 Management’s implementation of agreed actions (recommendations)

For the quarter ending 31 December 2016, 10 agreed actions were due for 
implementation, updates were provided for all actions. Nine were complete 
and one action relating to the contract for the valuation service is progressing 
and almost complete. It is really encouraging to see these actions for service 
improvement being given priority.

There are ten actions in progress which were due prior to 1 October 2016. 
Three actions are reliant on Information System updates which are now in 
progress, February 2017 dates for the Total Finance Live system upgrade 
have been provided. One action is in relation to the quality of risk information 
in reports, improvements have been made to the business case and options 
appraisal documents which are now being used, further guidance to support 
report completion will be issued to all officers. Six actions are associated with 
the management of Business Continuity Risks, details of the up to date 
mitigating actions can be found in the attached Corporate Risks and Issues 
Log (Appendix C). 

6 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 

6.1 The ARA Assistant successfully completed a further residential study 
workshop for the Certificate in Internal Audit and Business Risk. The Manager 
will provide ongoing training to both the ARA Officer and Assistant as they 
develop, all work completed will be supervised by the ARA Manager until 
team members are fully competent to deliver reviews independently. Excellent 
progress is being made.

6.2 The team have are regularly looking for new opportunities to broaden their 
knowledge, using free webinars as a development opportunity, the webinar 
attended this quarter was an overview of phishing risks. The ARA Manager 
has arranged a series of workshops for the team to deliver some focused 
training sessions on particular areas identified for development, during 
2016/17 these will include:

 Delivering internal audit findings
 Auditing Projects

6.3 The ARA Manager is working through the Leader to Leader Program 
sponsored by Allerdale. The program will end in June 2017 and aims to create 
better leaders and help individuals develop their leadership skills and 

Page 9



techniques. The monthly workshops have been extremely beneficial to the 
ARA Manager in the development of management skills.  

6.4      The ARA Officer has applied to join the Assistant Accountant Technician 
(AAT) Level Three course and the ARA Assistance has applied to join the 
AAT Level Two course at Lakes College starting in September 2017. They 
have interviews and entry exams booked for January. Another great 
opportunity for the team members to develop their knowledge further.

6.5 Different ways of obtaining client feedback are being explored as emails just 
don’t seem to get the responses. The team has created a ‘survey monkey’ 
based questionnaire for client feedback, see appendix B for the results. Well 
done to the team for achieving brilliant feedback.

7 Corporate Risks and Issues Log

7.1 The latest high level risk report is attached as appendix C for your 
information. 

8 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

8.1 Assurance, Risk and Audit operates in support of other Council services.

9 Finance and or Resource Implications

9.1 There are currently no finance or resource issues that have not been 
previously reported to the Committee.

10 Legal Implications and Risks

10.1 Acceptance of this report has no legal, health and safety or risk management   
implications other than the consideration of the Corporate Risks and Issues 
Log by the Committee in terms of oversight of the effectiveness of Risk 
Management Framework.

11 Recommendations

11.1 That the report is accepted subject to any additional information that the 
Committee may require.

Emma Thompson
Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager

Page 10



Housing Benefit Verification and Calculation and Payments Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of Housing Benefit Verification and Calculation and Housing Benefit Payments functions at Allerdale Borough Council 
(ABC). The aim of this review is to provide management with assurance that the systems are robust and operating as intended and 
provide recommendations for improvement to add value, if appropriate. A walkthrough review consists of testing a single 
transaction only unless control weaknesses are identified requiring further examination. 

From 1 July 2015 the Revenues and Benefits shared service ceased and the HB service came back in-house. The HB payments 
continue to be managed centrally by the Systems and Controls Team that provides system support and control functions to all three 
councils.

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for this audit was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 4th August 2016.

Walkthrough testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Security of 
sensitive 
documents

Benefits post received 
opened and valuable 
items are kept 
securely at all times 
until returned to the 
claimant.

Safeguard assets; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud

Substantial There is a new Valuables Handling Process 
document which gives clear guidance on how 
to identify fraudulent documents, handle and 
record valuable items received and ensure 
the same number of items are returned. There 
are clear responsibilities stated in the process 
which provide assurances that at least two 
members of staff are handling valuable 
documents, however observations concluded 
that in times of staff shortage it is not possible 
to have two members of the Document 
Management Team present. 

It was observed that non housing benefit 

Appendix A

P
age 11



valuables were not being processed in line 
with procedures. Assurances have been 
provided by the Housing Benefits Manager 
that the new structure which goes live on the 
1st January 2017 allows for a larger 
processing team who will ensure that the 
procedure is followed for all valuables going 
forward. An observation of valuables being 
received outside the post opening times 
demonstrated that this procedure is being 
applied to all envelopes being received at 
reception and therefore there is some impact 
to the banking and receipts processing such 
as delays in processing. This is evidenced in 
the banking and receipts audit review 
2016/17.

Claims 
processing 

Claims are processed 
efficiently and 
effectively in line with 
procedure. 

Objectives; Data 
integrity; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Safeguard 
assets; Compliance; 
Counter fraud; ICT 
auditing

Comprehensive Testing confirmed that there is a sound 
system of controls in place to process claims 
efficiently and effectively. Following the last 
audit review, training has taken place to 
refresh staff members to obtain the necessary 
identification and verification required to 
process claims and protect against fraud.

Claim reviews Exceptions, diaries 
and predictive 
changes are identified 
and action taken

Data integrity; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT auditing

Comprehensive Sample testing confirmed that there is a 
sound system of controls designed to meet 
objectives, manage risks and controls are 
consistently applied in all the areas reviewed. 
Diary notes existed to explain claims 
processing and changes were acted upon in a 
timely manner to prevent overpayments 
where possible.

Overpayments 
recovery and 
write offs

Recovery is 
commenced and 
progressed promptly 
using appropriate 
means. Non-

Objectives; Data 
integrity; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; 
Compliance; Counter 

Substantial Testing confirmed that overpayments are 
commenced promptly using appropriate 
means. Controls are in place to quality assess 
samples of new claims, overpayments and 
changes of circumstances and observations 

P
age 12



recoverable); 
overpayments are 
monitored and 
minimised. Fraud 
referrals are made 
consistently in line 
with guidance.  Write 
offs are authorised.

fraud; ICT auditing of this process confirmed that any errors are 
amended promptly. Testing and discussions 
confirmed that write off levels have been 
updated following the last audit and 
authorised by the appropriate manager.

Pay-run Only benefit due is 
included in pay-run 
according to 
claimant's payment 
cycle. Payments 
generated are made 
to the correct payee.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; ICT 
workflow.

Comprehensive Assurance gained from observation of the 
weekly Housing Benefit pay-run process, 
controls and key controls on 2 November 
2016 and confirmation that the same process 
was used on 6 July 2016 pay-run. Competent 
and experienced System Support Officer 
(SSO) has a robust process in place and this 
is followed to ensure the correct controls and 
checks are in place. The SSO updates the 
process on a regular basis to ensure that 
other team members have a reference should 
they be performing the tasks.

Returned 
payments

Undelivered, 
unpresented cheques 
and failed BACS are 
returned in Benefits 
system and GL.

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; ICT controls.

Substantial Observation undertaken of failed BACS 
concluded that measures are in place to 
ensure that issues are resolved quickly and 
efficiently. No further observations were 
undertaken as this area due to prioritisation of 
risks and assessment of previous audit 
reviews in this area.

Reconciliation HB payment balances 
in Academy match 
the Total general 
ledger

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance.

Comprehensive Testing and observations with key members 
of staff confirmed that there are good controls 
in place to ensure that payment balances in 
Academy match those in the General Ledger. 

Areas for improvement and recommendations

P
age 13



Number Recommendation Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 
and response

1 In line with agreed procedure, two 
members of staff should be present 
throughout the post opening process 

Counter fraud; Litigation; Loss 
of income; Effective/efficient 
processes, information 
security, agreed procedure is 
not followed.

Medium Agreed action. New 
departmental structure will 
provide for four members of 
staff managing post and 
documents and this will 
provide adequate cover. 
Customer Services Team 
Leader. Deadline Jan 31st 
2017.

P
age 14



Council Tax Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 Assurance Risk and Audit plan, a walkthrough review has been undertaken of the control activities, policies 
and procedures currently in place regarding council tax administration at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is 
to provide management with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for 
improvement to add value and improve the achievement of objectives.
From 1 July 2015 the Revenues and Benefits shared service ceased and the HB service came back in-house. The Systems and 
Controls Team continues to provide system support and control functions to all three councils and have a significant involvement in 
the areas of main billing and performance monitoring.
The objective and scope of this audit was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 4th August 2016.

Walkthrough testing and results

Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Main Billing All dwellings receive 
accurate council tax 
bill for each financial 
year.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; ICT 
workflow.

Comprehensive Testing and discussions with key members of 
staff demonstrated a good system of controls 
to ensure all dwellings receive accurate 
council tax bills each financial year. Testing 
confirmed quality control resulting from 
sample testing at the beginning of the year.

New 
properties

New dwellings are 
added to the database 
at correct rating band

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; ICT 
workflow.

Comprehensive Observation and testing confirmed competent 
and experienced staff carry out prompt action 
and reconciliation to Valuation Office schedule 
to confirm accuracy and correct billing.

Liability and 
billing

Accounts are updated 
with details of new 
occupants and 
changes of household 
circumstances 
affecting liability. Bills 
issued promptly.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud.

Substantial Observation and testing demonstrated 
accurate processing for new occupants and 
changes of household circumstances when 
changes are notified electronically. Testing 
concluded that postal notifications require the 
added assurance of date stamping to confirm 
date of notification.

P
age 15



Income 
collection

Council Tax income is 
posted to the correct 
account and billing 
period in Academy. 
Academy suspense 
account entries are 
resolved promptly. 
Accounts adjusted for 
failed direct debits and 
bounced cheques.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Counter fraud; ICT 
workflow.

Comprehensive Testing undertaken for BACS reversals and 
samples obtained for failed direct debits 
demonstrated prompt action and adjustments 
and correct billing. Sample testing for 
payments confirmed correct payment posting. 
Suspense account testing undertaken as part 
of the Banking and Receipts audit review 
2016/17 review.

Refunds Overpaid council tax is 
refunded to account 
holders. Academy 
creditor accounts are 
managed.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT workflow.

Comprehensive Observation and testing demonstrated that 
overpaid council tax is refunded promptly after 
all checks are made to ensure refunds are 
appropriate. Testing of the interface of refunds 
to the Total general ledger was not carried out 
as part of this review due to previous 
comprehensive audit review findings 15/16 
and deeming this area as a low risk area. 

Reconciliation Council Tax income 
and refunds balances 
in Academy match the 
Total general ledger.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance

Substantial Sample testing confirmed that income and 
refund balances in Academy are accurately 
recorded in the Total general ledger. 

Recovery Recovery is 
commenced and 
progressed promptly 
on overdue council tax 
debt.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT workflow.

Comprehensive Sample testing showed prompt recovery 
action in relation to overdue council tax debt. 
Recovery stages have been progressed 
according to the Recovery timetable aligned to 
the court dates.

Bailiff 
monitoring 
and 
payments

Reporting confirms 
debts referred to 
bailiffs are recovered 
wherever possible and 
payments allocated to 
the correct debt.

Efficient and effective 
process; 
Compliance.

Comprehensive Sample testing confirmed recovery action is 
taken promptly and enforcement payments 
are allocated to the correct debt.

Write offs Only those debts with 
no current prospect of 

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 

Substantial Observation of the recovery system process 
and testing confirmed that debts with no 

P
age 16



recovery are written 
off.

process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT workflow.

current prospect of recovery are written off 
and authorised accordingly.

Performance 
monitoring

Appropriate 
performance indicators 
are in place to manage 
the service. Council 
tax collection rate 
monitoring

Objectives; Efficient 
and effective process

Not tested  Performance management for the Council 
Tax service is under review and new 
measures will be set for 17/18, due to the 
service area currently undergoing a 
restructure which will go live in January 2017. 
However, collection rates continue to be 
monitored and presented monthly to the 
Senior Management Team.

Areas for improvement

Number Area for Improvement Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 
and response

1  All postal change notifications should be 
date stamped to ensure prompt and 
accurate billing which will ensure an audit 
trail and counter any challenges to the 
billing period.

Data integrity; 
Effective/efficient processes; 
Counter fraud

Low Revenues Manager will 
speak to Customer Services 
Team Leader as post is date 
stamped by the Document 
Management Team and 
scanned.

There were no recommendations to be agreed as a result of this audit review. 

P
age 17



National Non Domestic Rates Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 assurance risk and audit plan, a review has been undertaken of the control activities, policies and 
procedures currently in place regarding NNDR administration at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to 
provide management with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for 
improvement to add value and improve the achievement of objectives. 
From 1 July 2015 the Revenues and Benefits shared service ceased and the Revenues service came back in-house. The Systems 
and Controls Team continues to provide system support and control functions to all three councils and have a significant 
involvement in the areas of main billing and performance monitoring.
The objective and scope of this audit was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 4th August 2016.

Walkthrough testing and results

Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Main Billing All business premises 
receive an accurate 
NNDR bill for each 
financial year.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Safeguarding assets; 
Compliance; ICT 
workflow.

Comprehensive Testing and discussions with staff members 
showed good controls are in place to ensure 
business premises receive an accurate NNDR 
bill for each financial year. 

New 
properties

New business 
premises are added to 
the database at 
correct rateable value

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; ICT 
workflow.

 Comprehensive Observation and sample testing demonstrated 
key controls to ensure the correct rateable 
value is applied at the earliest opportunity. 
Reconciliation to the Valuation Office schedule 
observed demonstrated early correct billing 
and good quality assurance measures in place 
carried out by experienced and competent 
staff.

Liability and 
billing

Accounts are updated 
with details of new 

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 

Substantial Sample testing of exemption relief, confirmed 
that accounts are updated promptly and 

P
age 18



businesses and 
changes of 
circumstances 
affecting liability. Bills 
issued promptly.

effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud.

changes of circumstances acted upon at the 
earliest opportunity to ensure accurate billing. 
Integrity checks are made at account start up, 
however sample testing demonstrated a need 
to log integrity checks for cases whereby the 
payee name differed from the account name. 
This would help prevent fraud and money 
laundering.

Income 
collection

NNDR income is 
posted to the correct 
account and billing 
period in Academy. 
Academy suspense 
account entries are 
resolved promptly. 
Accounts adjusted for 
failed direct debits and 
returned cheques.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Counter fraud; ICT 
workflow.

Substantial Assurance also gathered from banking and 
receipts audit review. Testing showed 
accurate posting and billing. The suspense 
account within the Academy system is 
assessed as well managed. Testing confirmed 
accounts adjusted for returned direct debits.

Refunds Overpaid NNDR is 
refunded to account 
holders. Academy 
creditor accounts are 
managed.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT workflow.

Comprehensive Observation and testing confirmed a robust 
process for refunds. Staff are experienced and 
follow a clearly defined process ensuring 
controls are in place to ensure refunds are 
correctly authorised and actioned promptly.

Reconciliation NNDR income and 
refunds balances in 
Academy match the 
Total general ledger

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud.

Comprehensive Testing confirmed accurate and timely 
reconciliation of Academy and Total GL 
balances.

Recovery Recovery is 
commenced and 
progressed promptly 
on overdue NNDR 
debt.

Objectives; Data 
integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter 
fraud; ICT workflow.

Comprehensive Sample testing confirmed recovery action in 
accordance with the recovery timetable which 
ensures prompt action.

Bailiff 
monitoring 
and 

Reporting confirms 
debts referred to 
bailiffs are recovered 

Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance.

Substantial Sample testing of NNDR payments confirmed 
these were allocated to the correct accounts in 
Academy.

P
age 19



payments wherever possible and 
payments allocated to 
the correct debt.

Write offs Only those debts with 
no current prospect of 
recovery are written 
off.

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance; 
Counter fraud; ICT 
workflow.

Substantial Discussions with the Revenues Manager and 
testing confirmed procedures are followed to 
ensure correct authorisation. Sample testing 
not carried out in this area as risk deemed low 
and previous audit findings deemed 
substantial.

Performance 
monitoring

Appropriate 
performance 
indicators are in place 
to manage the service. 
NNDR collection rate 
monitoring.

Objectives; Efficient 
and effective process

Not tested as 
part of this review

Testing took place as part of the Performance 
Management audit review 2016/17. 
Discussions with Revenues Manager 
confirmed performance information provided 
by the Performance Team in Carlisle.

Areas for improvement and agreed actions

Number Area for improvement Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 
and response

1 In cases whereby the direct debit payee 
name differs from the NNDR account 
name on our system an explanation 
should be entered on the system to 
demonstrate the integrity checks carried 
out at the account set up time. 

Data integrity; Counter Fraud; 
Money laundering prevention

Low Revenues Manager agrees to 
discuss adding notes at 
account set up on Academy 
in next team meeting by end 
January 2017.

P
age 20



Flood Resilience Grants Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 Internal Audit Plan, an assurance review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of the Flood Resilience Grants 2016 at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide management 
with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for improvement to add value 
and improve the achievement of objectives if appropriate. A walkthrough review consists of testing a single transaction only unless 
control weaknesses are identified requiring further examination. Various transactions were selected for testing and observations 
completed in order to confirm the controls in place.

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for this review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 19 August 2016.

Walkthrough testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Procedures 
and guidance

Ensure adequate 
procedures are in 
place with regard to 
flood grant 
applications

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance; 
Counter fraud.

Substantial Property Level Flood Resilience Local 
Authority Guidance (January 2016) and 
updates were issued from central government. 

Allerdale (flood grants team) have worked 
hard to put in place a number of robust 
procedures and guidance for effective 
processing of flood grant applications.

An application form, check list, excel 
spreadsheets to record and monitor the 
applications and payments / reimbursements 
as well as other documentation has been 
developed to provide excellent assurance. 

P
age 21



Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

An internal mailbox specifically for flood grants 
has also been created for effective monitoring 
and communication. 
Due to the absence of a service level 
agreement between Allerdale Borough 
Council (ABC) and Business Emergency 
Resilience Group (BERG) there are no 
mutually agreed procedures to manage any 
business continuity risks such as ICT failure 
and staff loss. This information is important to 
manage the relationship going forward as well 
as to deliver a resilient, efficient and effective 
service. [Recommendation 1]

Management 
of 
arrangements

Ensure arrangements 
are in place to 
manage and co-
ordinate flood grant 
claim activity and 
comply with deadlines

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance; 
Counter fraud.

Substantial Testing confirmed excellent arrangements are 
in place to effectively manage and co-ordinate 
flood grant claim activity and comply with 
deadlines. All officers involved with the 
process understood their roles, responsibilities 
and deadlines fully.

Completed applications require one quote and 
an approval letter from the insurance to 
confirm the insurers haven’t already 
contributed to the proposed measures, 
however this isn't requested for all 
applications. [Recommendation 2]

A triage checklist was also produced as a 
good control and assurance measure, this 
would benefit by being initialled by the officer 
who completed the checklist to provide a 
management trail of actions taken and to 
support continuous improvement. [Area for 
improvement 1]

P
age 22



Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Testing showed that the query stage and 
dates on an application were not recorded on 
the flood resilience application spreadsheet - 
only the end authorised status, which does not 
show the information required to manage and 
monitor the agreed timeframes for completion. 
[Area for improvement 2]

Compliance % of properties are 
inspected for 
compliance.

Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance; 
Counter fraud.

Substantial 100% of properties are inspected for 
compliance which is excellent.

A property resilience grant inspection sheet is 
completed, signed and dated by the inspector 
and also signed by the householder as 
confirmation. Inspections are carried out by 
Allerdale Property Services Department.

If an issue is found payment is held, however 
most payments are processed prior to the 
inspection. [Recommendation 3]

Arrangements 
in place for 
deadline to 
reimburse 
funding

Arrangements are in 
place to cease flood 
grant funded activities 
in the event of 
withdrawal of funding 
without cost to the 
Council, in line with 
16/12/16 application 
closing date

Efficient and effective 
process; Safeguard 
assets; Compliance.

Substantial Funding from DCLG will cease on the 30 June 
2017, therefore Allerdale have set an 
application cut-off date of 31 March 2017 (to 
meet the DCLG March deadline). 

The Safety and Resilience Manager has 
requested confirmation from DCLG in regards 
to applications received on or prior to the 31 
March 17, that they will continue to reimburse 
if the works and or claim has not been 
received until after their June deadline. 
Although agreement has been confirmed 
verbally the Council await a formal response 

P
age 23



Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

from DCLG. [Recommendation 4]
Income and 
expenditure

Ensure grant income 
and expenditure is 
correctly accounted for

Efficient and effective 
process; Safeguard 
assets; Compliance; 
Counter fraud.

Substantial To improve monitoring a new cost centre code 
was set up to record grants payments and 
reimbursements.

The Assistant Accountant is the budget code 
monitor and monitors this monthly through the 
forecasting process.

To ensure reimbursements are completed in 
an accurate and timely manner a household 
flood resilience grant scheme: Cumbria 2015 
claim for reimbursement form is completed 
every other Friday and authorised by the 
Financial Services Manager, providing 
assurance over this process. Forms are sent 
to Cumbria County Council. 

The summary of applications tab on the 
resilience grant spreadsheet provides the 
current financial information to allow 
reconciliation with the amount reimbursed. An 
independent reconciliation confirmed on 31 
October 2016 that grants paid out since the 
start of the scheme have been fully 
reimbursed.

Risks 
assessed

Risks have been 
assessed, reviewed, 
recorded and 
monitored and 
business continuity 
arrangements have 
been put in place in 

Data integrity; 
Efficient and effective 
process; Safeguard 
assets.

Limited Flood resilience grants had not been 
considered as part of the services operational 
risk profile, the Safety and Resilience 
Manager was however aware of the risks and 
agreed to update the documents accordingly. 
[Recommendation 5]

P
age 24



Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

accordance with 
internal policy and 
procedures.

P
age 25



Areas of improvement

Area of improvement Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date & 
response

[1] The triage checklist should be 
initialled by the officer who 
completed it to provide a 
management trail of actions taken.

Data integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter fraud.

Low Darren Barnes

Immediately

[2] All stages of the application 
including query stage(s) and dates 
should be recorded on the flood 
resilience application spreadsheet.

Data integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; 
Compliance; Counter fraud.

Low Darren Barnes 

Immediately 

Agreed Actions

Agreed Action Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date & 
response

[1] Procedures 
and guidance

Procedures to manage any 
business continuity risks such as 
ICT failure should be agreed and 
adequate priority given on Allerdales 
business continuity plan.

Duplication of processes, 
risk management, business 
continuity, customer service.

Medium Barry Chambers

Immediately

[2] 
Management 
of 
arrangements

Applications should include one 
quote and confirmation from their 
insurance (where insurance is in 
place) that they haven’t already 
contributed to the proposed 
measures.

Data integrity; duplicate 
claims increase the risk of 
fraud, risk management.

Medium Darren Barnes

This had been implemented at the 
time of the review meeting.

[3] Compliance Inspections should be completed 
prior to payments being made. 

Efficient and effective 
process; Compliance; 
Counter fraud.

Medium David Bryden

Immediately
[4] 
Arrangements 
in place for 
deadline to 

Management should obtain 
confirmation from DCLG in regards 
to their position on reimbursing 
Allerdale for applications received 

Efficient and effective 
process; Safeguard assets; 
Compliance.

Medium Barry Chambers

Request sent awaiting response

P
age 26



Agreed Action Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date & 
response

reimburse 
funding

on or prior to the 31 March 17, but 
works not completed until after their 
30 June 17 deadline is required.

[5] Risks 
assessed

The Operational risk profile and 
services operational risk profile 
should be updated to include the 
Flood resilience grants.

Data integrity; Efficient and 
effective process; Safeguard 
assets.

Medium Barry Chambers

31 December 2016

P
age 27



Contract Monitoring Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of the Contract Monitoring at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). Five contracts were chosen from the contracts register of 
varying value and from a selection of service areas. Each were tested to confirm the correct procedures were followed when 
selecting the appropriate contract and to confirm that controls were in place to manage and monitor the contracts.  The aim of this 
review is to provide management with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide 
recommendations for improvement to add value, if appropriate. 

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for the Contract Monitoring review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 4 August 
2016.

Testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Performance The supplier delivers 
the service to the 
standard specified in 
the contract.

Objectives; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Value for 
money

Substantial Testing confirmed that service providers 
are delivering the service to the standard 
specified in the contract however closer 
monitoring of contracts and greater 
understanding of responsibility would 
provide assurance that the Council and 
residents are receiving value for money. 

Contracts/Contract
Management and 
Monitoring

Contracts are clear, 
with clear 
responsibilities and 
appropriate legislation 

Objectives; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Data 
integrity; Counter 

Substantial Testing confirmed the wording of contracts 
was clear with clear responsibilities 
identified. Contractors were either 
approved or were existing providers of 

P
age 28



in place. fraud; Value for 
money

services to vulnerable customers and 
therefore managers gained assurance that 
they would possess the relevant insurances 
and qualifications.  The Commissioning 
Board provides a second line of defence by 
overseeing and monitoring contract 
management.
Contracts should be managed to include 
regular reviews to ensure that they do not 
expire and create temporary arrangements. 
A rolling contract situation should not arise 
without the appropriate documentation.

Financial 
Risks/Additional 
Costs

Financial procedures 
are followed, budgets 
managed and risks 
mitigated where 
possible, providing 
value for money at all 
times.

Data integrity; 
Counter fraud; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Value for 
money; 

Limited Testing confirmed limited understanding of 
responsibility in terms of contract 
management and budget monitoring. 
Contract management and monitoring were 
inconsistently applied.

Areas for improvement and recommendations

Recommendations
Number Recommendation Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 

and response
1 An up to date procurement and tendering 

process be uploaded electronically and 
circulated to all managers and staff to 
ensure all contract managers are clear 
on the tendering process and to ensure 
tendering levels are updated.

Efficient/effective procedures; 
Clarity of roles and 
responsibilities; Counter fraud; 
Value for money; Integrity of 
Information

Medium The review of tender levels 
and the procurement process 
is already complete and 
preparing to go out for 
consultation as part of the 
financial regulations review.

2 To encourage accountability and Value for money; Reputation High As part of the new 

P
age 29



responsibility, contract management and 
monitoring expectations should be 
clarified and communicated to all 
employees responsible for contracts. 
Where partnership agreements exist or 
profit sharing agreements exist 
monitoring should be carried out to 
ensure the Council receives appropriate 
income and value for money.

and relationships with 
partners; Counter fraud; 
Efficient/effective procedures; 
Contract litigation

procurement, commissioning 
and contract management 
framework clear roles within 
the management of contracts 
are defined. Financial 
regulations are also being re-
written and incorporate 
contract management 
responsibilities and 
monitoring expectations. 
Once the framework is 
approved by the Council 
there will be workshops and a 
full policy/procedure roll out. 
This will take after Exec in 
January 2017 if approval 
given. Commissioning 
Manager is the responsible 
officer. Deadline end March 
2017.

3 The contract register is updated again to 
ensure that lease agreements are 
removed from the list, all current 
contracts are on the list and to ensure the 
correct contract owners/managers are 
identified.

Data integrity Low The contract register is being 
updated and held by 
procurement. Procurement 
Officer is working on pulling 
this together as a task. 
Deadline end March 2017. 

4 Contracts or agreements that rely on the 
contractor to provide performance 
information should include a second line 
of defence added such as independent 
reviews or performance monitoring site 
visits. This is particularly important when 
performance is linked to contract costs or 
informs profit levels to the Council

Data integrity; Counter fraud; 
Value for money; 
Efficient/effective procedures; 
Integrity

Medium This is incorporated in to the 
new framework. However the 
Commissioning Manager will 
highlight this in the 
workshops. Deadline end 
March 2017.

P
age 30



Performance Management Audit Review 2016/17

Introduction

As part of the 2016/17 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of the Performance Management Framework at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide 
management with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for improvement to 
add value, if appropriate. 

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for Performance Management review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 5 August 
2016.

Testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Policies and 
Procedures

Adequate policy and 
procedures for 
performance 
management are in 
place in line with best 
practice.

Objectives; 
Effective/efficient 
processes

Substantial A number of changes have taken place since 
the last review in 13/14 in terms of 
performance reporting.  The “What Great 
Looks Like” performance management 
framework is in place which includes a clear 
timed framework of appraisal meetings to 
include performance measures.
Discussions with HR demonstrated that 
expectations are clear in terms of the 
framework and time-lines, however employee 
surveys completed as part of this review 
confirmed inconsistencies for 1-2-1 
discussions.  Some staff report that they are 
not having “what great looks like” meetings at 

P
age 31



all, some report they have infrequent 
meetings and others report that they do not 
have opportunities to discuss performance 
other than within the “what great looks like” 
discussions.  
People Resources has issued a new 
Performance Improvement Framework and 
Policy Statement to the Employee 
Engagement Group for consultation, these 
include clear guidelines for managers but 
have been updated out-with the Performance 
Management Framework and consist of a re-
worked capability policy.
To monitor the delivery of these management 
expectations and to ensure all employees 
receive adequate support it would be 
beneficial to include some oversight for these 
actions going forward.

Roles and 
Responsibilities

Performance 
management 
framework

Objectives; Efficiency 
and effectiveness

Substantial The Framework has been improved since the 
last audit and roles and responsibilities are 
clear with detailed reporting lines, however 
the Audit Committee should appear on the 
list of reporting lines and the document 
should be easier to find.  

Performance 
data

Data Quality Data integrity; 
Counter fraud; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness

Limited More weight should be attached to Data 
Quality and the Performance Management 
Framework would benefit from having a link 
to the Data Quality Statement already on the 
intranet. Testing confirmed that information is 
available and provided but inconsistently 
applied and data quality not certain. Sourcing 
performance information as part of this 
review proved difficult due to information not 
being in one place and involved contacting 

P
age 32



several members of staff/managers. Pulling 
data from so many sources and preparing 
reports without software is inefficient and can 
impact on the integrity of data used to inform 
decisions.
Testing, surveys and discussions with the 
Senior Policy and Performance Officer 
confirmed that there is no central point for 
managing and reporting on performance. 
The Service Plan templates encourage 
consistency in approach but performance is 
reported in varying formats. It is difficult to 
locate performance information and to 
benchmark as a council as information is not 
held centrally.  Having an accessible whole 
service/business view of how the Council 
performs in each key area available would 
support well informed decision making. 

Performance 
Management

Roles and 
responsibilities for 
performance 
management

Effective/efficient 
processes; Data 
integrity

Substantial Testing included staff and management 
surveys. Surveys confirmed that individuals 
understand their own responsibilities but 
would benefit from greater awareness of the 
performance information that is reported. A 
clearer understanding of how individual 
performance contributes to the information 
published and the overall achievement of 
council plan objectives would add value to 
the performance management cycle. 
The Audit Committee and Scrutiny 
Committee have a role to play in monitoring 
performance throughout the Council however 
reporting by exception removes the 
opportunity to request assurances that 
completed projects have delivered the 
intended key objectives agreed as a measure 

P
age 33



of their effectiveness.

Areas for improvement and recommendations

Areas for improvement
Number Area for Improvement Associated risks Priority Response
1 To include the Audit Committee in the 

reporting lines and more emphasis on 
data quality with a link to the Data Quality 
Statement in the Performance 
Management Framework document.

Efficient and efficient 
processes; Safeguard assets, 
service resilience

Low This will be added to the 
reporting lines.

Agreed Actions
Number Agreed Actions Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 

and response
1 Performance information to be 

embedded in to decision making and 
clear understanding of how we 
benchmark. Performance information 
instilled in to the appraisal process to 
enable performance to be linked to 
objectives and better performance 
management. One central point of data 
collection would improve monitoring 
capability and benchmarking and 
eliminate unnecessary information 
gathering.

Data integrity; 
Effective/efficient processes; 
Compliance; Objectives; 
making informed business 
decisions; 
Whole of business 
performance is not centrally 
visible

High Senior Policy and 
Improvement Officer to 
prepare a report for SMT to 
discuss and agree actions 
going forward. Deadline for 
report to SMT and Director
by 30th November 2016. 

2 Project/Council plan activity evaluation 
information should be submitted to 
Senior Managers, Executive and/or 
Scrutiny when a project is complete to 
confirm how key deliverables were met, 

Compliance; Objectives; Data 
integrity; making informed 
business decisions
Opportunities for lessons 
learned are missed;

Low Senior Policy and 
Improvement Officer. This 
action requires SMT to agree 
to add activity/project 
performance information 

P
age 34



measure effectiveness, and to gather 
participant and budgetary feedback.

Successful/exceeding 
expectations projects are not 
given consideration; 
Difficult to provide assurance 
that projects are delivering the 
benefits intended.

once an activity is complete 
and published in the quarterly 
performance report. 
Executive has reported to 
SMT that it wishes to see 
more outcomes measured. 
Alex will combine this action 
with her report to SMT by 30th 
November 2016.

3 The ‘Performance Improvement 
Procedure’ should to be linked with other 
performance management policies, for 
example, "what great looks like" to 
provide a complete policy process for 
performance management as a whole.  
This will ensure management 
expectations are clear.

Data integrity; 
Effective/efficient processes; 
Compliance; Objectives; 
Failure to manage 
performance effectively
Roles and responsibilities for 
performance management are 
not clear.
Actions to address poor 
performance are 
inconsistently applied and 
evidenced

Medium The Leadership and Talent 
Manager has produced a 
Performance Management 
Policy which makes reference 
to the appraisal process, 
disciplinary process and 
capability process and this 
document is with Senior 
Management Team for 
consultation and feedback. 
To be added to the SMT 
agenda 30th November 2016.

P
age 35



Guide to the audit assurance opinions
Comprehensive There is a sound system of controls designed to 

meet objectives, manage risks and controls are 
consistently applied in all the areas reviewed.

Substantial There is a good system of controls and risks are 
managed. However, there are opportunities for 
improvement in the design or consistency of 
application that will assist in the achievement of 
objectives identified as being at risk in the areas 
reviewed.

Limited Key controls exist to help achieve objectives 
and manage principle risks. However, there are 
opportunities for improvement in the overall 
control environment which would enhance the 
design and application of controls, thereby 
assisting the achievement of objectives 
identified as being at risk in the areas reviewed.

Minimal The absence of basic key controls or the 
inconsistent application of key controls is so 
severe that the audit area is open to abuse or 
error. Risks to objectives are not being 
managed.

Agreed action levels
High There is a control vulnerability that could result in 

failure to achieve corporate objectives, reputational 
damage, lead to material loss, exposure to serious 
fraud or failure to meet legal or statutory requirements. 
This includes material non-compliance with the 
Constitution, Financial Regulations or Council policies 
and procedures. Managers should address high priority 
recommendations urgently to rectify the situation.

Medium The system or procedure lacks adequate control that 
could result in failure to achieve operational objectives, 
non-material loss, or non-compliance with 
departmental operational or financial procedures. This 
would also include minor non-compliance with 
Financial Regulations. Although not fundamental to 
system integrity these risks should be addressed 
promptly as the next priority.

Low To implement this would be good practice to improve 
or enhance the system and the achievement of 
objectives. Several low risks in combination may give 
rise to concern.  

In line with the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards, 
Assurance, Risk and Audit will monitor all current and future agreed 
actions. Actions will be recorded in the Covalent performance 
management system or its successor system including all progress 
updates whether made by assigned officers directly or by 
Assurance, Risk and Audit on their behalf. Managers with system 
access have the opportunity to monitor these actions. 
Implementation dates are agreed before the Final report is issued; 
amendments to these dates must be agreed with Assurance, Risk 
and Audit prior to updating Covalent.
The record of the agreed actions updates within Covalent will be 
used to provide information required by the Senior Management 
Team and Audit Committee.

P
age 36



Q1: How often do you experience/use our service? More than once per year

Q2: What kind of service have you used/participated in? Audit

Q3: It is our aim that all aspects of our service meet the expectations of our customers, and we are always
trying to improve. On a scale of 1-5 where 5 is very good and 1 is very poor, how would you rate Assurance
Risk and Audit services?

Quality of advice 4

Availability 4

Attitude 5

Politeness 5

Professionalism 5

Observations (if appropriate) 4

Knowledge 4

Ability to add value to your work 4

Support 4

Q4: Were you happy with the service you received from
the particular member of the team you dealt with?

Yes

COMPLETECOMPLETE
Collector:Collector:  Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 10:45:07 AMTuesday, January 10, 2017 10:45:07 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 10:47:11 AMTuesday, January 10, 2017 10:47:11 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:  00:02:0400:02:04
IP Address:IP Address:  212.248.194.189212.248.194.189

PAGE 2

PAGE 3

PAGE 4

PAGE 5

#1

1 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 37



Q5: It is important to us that customers receive the best
possible service from our team. When dealing with
Assurance Risk and Audit staff, do you find them: (tick
all that apply)

Helpful, Efficient, Fair, Flexible, Punctual, Practical,

Knowledgeable, Pleasant,

Understanding of your challenges/demands

Q6: How important do you feel the following aspects of Assurance Risk and Audit are?

Independence Very important

Public and member accountability Very important

Quality Very important

Internal service Very important

Keeping clients informed at all stages Very important

Approachable Very important

Q7: Do you have any additional comments or suggested
improvements to our service?

Respondent skipped this
question

PAGE 6

PAGE 8

2 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 38



Q1: How often do you experience/use our service? More than once per year

Q2: What kind of service have you used/participated in? Audit

Q3: It is our aim that all aspects of our service meet the expectations of our customers, and we are always
trying to improve. On a scale of 1-5 where 5 is very good and 1 is very poor, how would you rate Assurance
Risk and Audit services?

Quality of advice 5

Availability 4

Attitude 5

Politeness 5

Professionalism 5

Observations (if appropriate) 5

Knowledge 5

Ability to add value to your work 5

Support 5

Q4: Were you happy with the service you received from
the particular member of the team you dealt with?

Yes

COMPLETECOMPLETE
Collector:Collector:  Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 12:54:18 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 12:54:18 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 12:55:57 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 12:55:57 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:  00:01:3800:01:38
IP Address:IP Address:  212.248.194.189212.248.194.189

PAGE 2

PAGE 3

PAGE 4

PAGE 5

#2

3 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 39



Q5: It is important to us that customers receive the best
possible service from our team. When dealing with
Assurance Risk and Audit staff, do you find them: (tick
all that apply)

Helpful, Fair, Flexible, Punctual, Practical,

Knowledgeable, Pleasant,

Understanding of your challenges/demands

Q6: How important do you feel the following aspects of Assurance Risk and Audit are?

Independence No opinion either way

Public and member accountability Very important

Quality Very important

Internal service Very important

Keeping clients informed at all stages Very important

Approachable Very important

Q7: Do you have any additional comments or suggested
improvements to our service?

Respondent skipped this
question

PAGE 6

PAGE 8

4 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 40



Q1: How often do you experience/use our service? Last 5 years

Q2: What kind of service have you used/participated in? Respondent skipped this
question

Q3: It is our aim that all aspects of our service meet the
expectations of our customers, and we are always trying
to improve. On a scale of 1-5 where 5 is very good and 1
is very poor, how would you rate Assurance Risk and
Audit services?

Respondent skipped this
question

Q4: Were you happy with the service you received from
the particular member of the team you dealt with?

Respondent skipped this
question

Q5: It is important to us that customers receive the best
possible service from our team. When dealing with
Assurance Risk and Audit staff, do you find them: (tick
all that apply)

Respondent skipped this
question

Q6: How important do you feel the following aspects
of Assurance Risk and Audit are?

Respondent skipped this
question

INCOMPLETEINCOMPLETE
Collector:Collector:  Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 1:39:56 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 1:39:56 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 1:40:12 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 1:40:12 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:  00:00:1600:00:16
IP Address:IP Address:  212.248.194.189212.248.194.189

PAGE 2

PAGE 3

PAGE 4

PAGE 5

PAGE 6

PAGE 8

#3

5 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 41



Q7: Do you have any additional comments or suggested
improvements to our service?

Respondent skipped this
question

6 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 42



Q1: How often do you experience/use our service? Never

Q2: What kind of service have you used/participated in? Respondent skipped this
question

Q3: It is our aim that all aspects of our service meet the
expectations of our customers, and we are always trying
to improve. On a scale of 1-5 where 5 is very good and 1
is very poor, how would you rate Assurance Risk and
Audit services?

Respondent skipped this
question

Q4: Were you happy with the service you received from
the particular member of the team you dealt with?

Respondent skipped this
question

Q5: It is important to us that customers receive the best
possible service from our team. When dealing with
Assurance Risk and Audit staff, do you find them: (tick
all that apply)

Respondent skipped this
question

Q6: How important do you feel the following aspects
of Assurance Risk and Audit are?

Respondent skipped this
question

INCOMPLETEINCOMPLETE
Collector:Collector:  Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 1:41:34 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 1:41:34 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 1:41:39 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 1:41:39 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:  00:00:0400:00:04
IP Address:IP Address:  212.248.194.189212.248.194.189

PAGE 2

PAGE 3

PAGE 4

PAGE 5

PAGE 6

PAGE 8

#4

7 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 43



Q7: Do you have any additional comments or suggested
improvements to our service?

Respondent skipped this
question

8 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 44



Q1: How often do you experience/use our service? More than once per year

Q2: What kind of service have you used/participated in? Audit

Q3: It is our aim that all aspects of our service meet the expectations of our customers, and we are always
trying to improve. On a scale of 1-5 where 5 is very good and 1 is very poor, how would you rate Assurance
Risk and Audit services?

Quality of advice 4

Availability 5

Attitude 5

Politeness 5

Professionalism 5

Observations (if appropriate) 4

Knowledge 4

Ability to add value to your work 4

Support 5

Q4: Were you happy with the service you received from
the particular member of the team you dealt with?

Yes

COMPLETECOMPLETE
Collector:Collector:  Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 4:48:28 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 4:48:28 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:  Tuesday, January 10, 2017 4:50:09 PMTuesday, January 10, 2017 4:50:09 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:  00:01:4000:01:40
IP Address:IP Address:  212.248.194.189212.248.194.189

PAGE 2

PAGE 3

PAGE 4

PAGE 5

#5

9 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 45



Q5: It is important to us that customers receive the best
possible service from our team. When dealing with
Assurance Risk and Audit staff, do you find them: (tick
all that apply)

Helpful, Efficient, Fair, Punctual, Practical,

Knowledgeable, Pleasant,

Understanding of your challenges/demands

Q6: How important do you feel the following aspects of Assurance Risk and Audit are?

Independence Very important

Public and member accountability Very important

Quality Very important

Internal service Very important

Keeping clients informed at all stages Very important

Approachable Very important

Q7: Do you have any additional comments or suggested
improvements to our service?

Respondent skipped this
question

PAGE 6

PAGE 8

10 / 10

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 46



ID Risk Description Priority Link Service Area Impact Description Risk
Score

Responsibilit
y

Measures and Assurance Measures and
Assurance
Assignment

Mitigating Actions planned Mitigating
Actions
Assigned To

Mitigation
Date

35 Significant unbudgeted
expenditure arising from
severe weather conditions.

Performance Corporate Further deterioration of
sea defences and impact
on low lying coastal
properties and land.
Landslips occuring
following severe weather
Cost of business
disruption e.g. NNDR
collection
Increase cost of business
as usual services and
customers as resource is
used to support 

4x4=16 Nicholson,
Catherine;

Extent of damage identified and external funding opportunities
being explored
Report produced identifying issues and options and circulated
to Director
Following Storm Desmond and flooding in December 2015 the
Bellwin scheme has been activated for Cumbria. This scheme
will provide additional financial support associated with
response works undertaken between the start of the incident
and up to 1 month after the end of the official response stage.
A finance sub-group with members from all Cumbrian
Authorities has been set up in response to recent storms and
flooding, this allows the sharing of knowledge and best practice.
This group will also be responsible for identifying additional
funding for the recovery phase (works required to land/property,
loss of income from taxation and business interruption).
Where works are required to be undertaken, these are recorded
and costs estimated to ensure that financing can be identified,
either from external sources identified by the finance sub-group
or from Allerdale BC's budget and internal resources.

Bellwin now submitted and awaiting settlment.  no queries to
date.
Major incident budget created for 16/17

Nicholson,
Catherine;

Funding opportunities to support the repair/replacement of
damaged sea defences still being explored. Awaiting
confirmation from Environment Agency.

Action has been taken to address highest risk area (Well Lane,
Maryport). Topographic survey and initial appraisal have been
undertaken. Inspection has revealed further structural
inspections will be required and additional works will be
required additional to the original anticipated costs. Consultants
are acting in connection with the identified additional works.

Provision for this additional cost is being made in 2016/17
budget.

Finance Sub-group set up (following Storm Desmond) to
idenitfy additional funding for recovery phase

Catherine
Nicholson

31/03/2016

4 Failure to continue
providing value for money
for expenditure

Sustainable
business

OD and
Transformation

Inability to fulfil statutory
obligations. Cease
discretionary services.
Cannot succeed as a
council.  Unable to achieve
plans, loss of key staff and
or services, further use of
reserves. Waste due to
inefficient processes.

4x3=12 Frost, Ian; 5 Year sustainability plan agreed by Executive.  Reserves
above minimum level. Star Chamber approach adopted to
improve accountability and responsibility for budget
management. Tailor made financial workshops for budget
holders quarterly.  Budget timetable and reporting managed
effectively. Forecasting out puts examined and challenged at
SMT regularly.  Increasing demand for monthly performance
indicator information at SMT monthly to drive efficiency and
effectiveness. Sector advisors – treasury guidance. Reducing
spend programme – monitored.

Frost, Ian; 1 .  The Commercial and Commissioning Boards should drive
cost and time performance information relating to value for
money and productivity. This should include detailed business
cases and options appraisals to support informed decision
making.
2 Council plan projects and new areas of business activity
should be subject to a structured options appraisal using the
programme office methodology to encourage innovation and
the consideration of alternative business and delivery models.
Projects should include clear measurable, agreed outputs to
demonstrate the value added by the expenditure.     3.Risk
information in the Corporate Risks and Issues Log should be
refreshed on an ongoing basis as changes occur to ensure it
reflects current risk management activities. A risk evaluation of
the high risks (red) should be completed by the Senior
Management Team monthly.
4 Minimum reserve position and self sufficiency targets
monitored and reviewed by S151 Officer on risk basis

1. Andrew
Seekings
2. Paul Wood
3. Ian Frost
4 Catherine
Nicholson

31/10/2016P
age 47



14 Business continuity plans
do not meet business
needs

Sustainable
business

Corporate The Council does not
comply with its duties as a
Category 1 Responder
under CCA. Priority
services are not
maintained,. Resulting in
bad publicity and loss of
confidence in
management,  delayed
income collection,
increased unbudgeted
expenditure costs.

12 Nicholson,
Catherine;

8/11/16 – Cloud based Business continuity software has been
implemented, accessible from any internet capable device,
relevant staff have received training on its use. Departmental
plans combined into central Business Continuity plan containing
sections for dealing with Initial Incident actions,
Communications, Recovery and Restoration phases, together
with managing impact on the Council. Solway House agreed as
alternative location for DDR set up site, control centre and
priority services. ICT infrastructure and data links in place to
allow restoration of required servers and access to data
backups located at Carlisle. Telephony system transferred to
fully mobile based system removing requirement for server
access via Allerdale House. Contact Centre transferred to a
‘cloud’ based solution allowing access via any internet capable
device, regardless of location. Property Services have provided
a plan identifying space within building for incident response
team and priority services.  Business Interruption insurance in
place and Insurance cover in respect of council assets,
reinstatement of data, additional increased cost of working.
Business interruption insurance relating to specified supplier
investigated and amendments to cover made.
Business recovery plan template has been updated to capture
additional information about resource requirements for priority
services, details of staff to be relocated to Solway House and
other potential locations and has been circulated to Heads of
Service

Nicholson,
Catherine;

1.  Apply likely costings for budget
2.  Head of Service to hold table top exercise to evaluate
current plan supervised by PinBell consultant

3. Rolling program of full Departmental exercises      4. Update
Audit Committee

1.    C Nicholson
- 31 Mar 2017
2.    P
McAleavey - 31
Dec 2016
3.    P
McAleavey – 31
Dec 2017 
4.    C Nicholson
– As required

31/12/2017

32 Failure to engage
community in the planning
process. 

Strengthenin
g our
economy

Development
Services

Delays and costs
associated with objections
and challenges to planning
applications and site
allocations. Impact on
delivery of the Council's
growth ambitons for
housing and employment
land. Adverse impact on
the Council's reputation.
Impact on Council Tax,
NNDR and New Homes
Bonus received. 

12 Kerrigan,
Kevin;

Improved community consultation and engagement.
Member engagement in development of Local Plan through
Planning Policy Working Group.
Training for Development Panel members - including
applications review workshops.
Appropriate level of detail in Development Panel reports.
Regular planning case mangement meetings
Wording of planning application correspondence reviewed.
Engagement with town counciils
Appeal decision reviews circualted to members. 

Kerrigan,
Kevin;

Consultation on Local Plan Part 2 and Supplementary Planning
Documents.
Ongong Member Training
Customer satisfaction surveys being undertaken with
applicants and residents commenting on planning applications -
feedback to be used to inform future service improvements.
Consider opportunties for pre-application engagement with
members.

Kevin Kerrigan 31/03/2017

38 Failure to demonstrate
and achieve informed
decision making 

Performance Corporate Financial, operational and
reputational risk
More oportunity for
challenge
(legal/ombudsman/political
/pblic/media)
Failure to deliver open,
transparent and
acountable process in
accordance with Good
Governance

4x3=12 Sewell,
Sharon;

Reviewed processes - procurement

Commercial/Commissioning -Boards providing oversight and
challenge (including considertaion of business cases)

Decision-Making

Open and Transparent culture for reporting

Strategic Oversight and Technical Support Group for planning

Solutions driven team for major projects and potential risks

Driven by Heads of Service for decisions/risks/issues within
their areas of responsitility

 

Sewell,
Sharon;

1. Full review of decision-making process

2. Full review of financial regulations in progress

3. Training & Development

Sharon Sewell 30/06/2017

P
age 48



47 Ineffective management of
emergencies (including
acute stage and recovery)

Improving
health/wellbei
ng

Housing and
Health

Negative on business as
usual activity as staff used
on emergencies
Statutory implications e.g.
working time directive
Businesses don't reopen
Allerdale doesn't recover
Dont attract new
businesses
Potential loss of jobs and
employment opportunities
People move out of the
area
Loss of revenue
Loss of Tourism business

4x3=12 Wilson,
Graeme;

Strategic representatives on each Flood Recovery Group
Consult with national stakeholders, central government
agencies
Key employment sites defined in the Borough where resilience
is priority
Business Grants available
Allerdale Flood Recovery Programme Board established

Hardy, Nik;
Nicholson,
Catherine;
Seekings,
Andrew;
Frost, Ian;
Wilson,
Graeme;

1. Engage with businesses to understand their concerns and
future intentions.
2. Resources and assets available to assist meet businesses
future strategies.
3. Support businesses with relocation options
4. Continue to engage with progress with agencies to build and
improve flood resilience and defences.
5. Establish regular liasion meetings with EA
6. Adminster Flood Grants
7. Work with Cumbria Resilience Unit to review and improve
where necessary Allerdales approach to emergency response
8. Establish Emergency Planning Group.
9. Implement EP training programme for officers and
Councillors

1. Nik Hardy
2. Nik Hardy
and Stephen
Holland
3. Nik Hardy
and Stephen
Holland
4. Nik Hardy,
Stephen
Holland and
Graeme Wilson
5 - 9. Graeme
Wilson
 
 

30/09/2016

48 Inability to deliver the
council plan due to the
consequences of Brexit 

Performance Corporate strategic priorities are not
met
improvements are not
made
lives in allerdale are not
improved
cannot deliver value for
money
reduced growth

4x3=12 Hardy, Nik; Scenario planning session completed with Assurance, Risk and
Audit Manager.
Staff briefing sessons 12th and 15th July 2016

Frost, Ian;
Hardy, Nik;

Key Officers must remain part of discussions with stakeholders
The situation needs to be managed and monitored through the
Council's Policy Group
Information updates from professional bodies should be shared
with SMT on a regular basis
Identify strategy setting groups and ensure we are part of these
discussions.

SMT -
ownership to be
confirmed.

12/07/2016

51 Potential risk to the
delivery of major schemes
due to reduced levels of
public regeneration
funding

Economic
Growth

Economic
Growth

Inability to progress major
regeneration schemes
resulting in failure to
safeguard or create
employment opportunities

4x3=12 Hardy, Nik; Ongoing dialogue wtih relevant funding bodies and
stakeholders.

Hardy, Nik; Continuation of dialogue with key stakeholders and funding
bodies.
Identification of other possible means to delivery.

Economic
Growth team

20/01/2017

13 Business rates collected
fall below baseline funding

Sustainable
business

Corporate Less cash income and
more reliance on reserves.
Unable to balance budget.
Further service cuts.

3x3=9 Nicholson,
Catherine;

In house Revs and Bens team monitor collection rates and
report back to  Head of Finance to provide early warning.
Existing award of business rate reliefs policy in place but based
on system before localisation of NNDR. Application to pool
business rates has been accepted again for 2016/17.  Cumbria
wide group established with Cumbria County Council taking the
lead role on the pool with specialist advice.
Regular meetings are held between all members of the pool to
discuss the business rates income projections and to highlight
any significant issues that are relevant to the pool and/or
individual authorities.
Monitoring currently in place is reviewed and
changes/enhancements are discussed between relevant parties
and where necessary actioned.
The Allerdale sub-group has been set up and has now had a
number of meetings to discuss potential growth, decline and
any other relevant topics, members include revenues, planning,
finance, economic growth and membership is reviewed to make
sure it remains fit for purpose. 

Nicholson,
Catherine;

 1.  Working with Revs and Bens Shared Service to develop
more enhanced monitoring  eg top 20 rates payers, those in
appeal etc.
 2.  Update of discretionary rate reflief planned
3. Set up Buiness Rates Working Group

1 Finance Sub
Group   - W
Johnston/ D
Carter
2 M Toner
3 NNDR rep

31/12/2015

18 Council resources are not
aligned to priorities

Sustainable
business

OD and
Transformation

Cannot achieve plans,
staff and members
demoralised, public
perception reduced,
inefficient and ineffective
use of resources.

3x3=9 Seekings,
Andrew;

Current performance management framework ensures that key
issues and challenges facing the Council drives Council Plan
and service plan priorities.
Project approach is taken to delivering Council Plan and regular
monitoring of budgets and performance is in place.
New performance/behaviours framework in place 

Seekings,
Andrew;

•	Council plan workshop to be held with all employees to incre
ase awareness and buy in.
•	65% of all employees have had a behaviours review – Chief
Executive has reinforced importance of these review in July/Au
gust quarterly employee briefing.
•	SMT review of self-sufficiency budget on 4th August

 Zoe Pluckrose
 
 

30/09/2016

22 Increased number of
families in poverty

Tackling
inequality

OD and
Transformation

Quality of life reduced,
decreased customer
satisfaction, reduced life
expectancy. 

3x3=9 Seekings,
Andrew;

1. Development and delivery of the Reducing Poverty Strategy

2. Local poverty statistics monitored annually through the Key
issues paper  

Seekings,
Andrew;

1.	Review and update the Tackling Inequality Strategy and Acti
on Plan by end November 2016
2.	Develop a framework to ensure that tackling inequality is co
nsidered across the organisation in business planning and deci
sion making by December 2016

1 A Fitzgerald
2 N Hardy
 

31/12/2016

29 Failure to manage
commissioning lifecycle
with key partners.

Sustainable
business

Corporate Priorities are not met,
partnerships fail, legal
disputes occur,
opportunities missed.

3x3=9 Seekings,
Andrew;

Commissioning Manager now in place
Strategic Review Plan - agreed to start with grounds
maintenance.  Strategic and Service review plan agreed by
Commissioning Board to be implemented.

Seekings,
Andrew;

Contract Monitoring in Financial Regulations review. Paul Wood 30/11/2016

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 50



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 17 February 2017

Assurance, Risk and Audit Strategy 2017/18

The Reason for the Decision To obtain agreement to the Audit Strategy which 
will be directly aligned to the Allerdale Business 
Plan and the risk management framework

Summary of options considered To create an Assurance Risk and Audit Strategy 
to deliver a plan that provides assurance over the 
management of risk, corporate governance and 
internal control.

Recommendations To accept the Assurance Risk and Audit Strategy 
2017/18

Financial /  Resource Implications No additional resource required to deliver this.

Legal / Governance Implications This Strategy has been completed in line with the 
statutory requirements and professional guidance 
recommendations.

Community Safety Implications None specific to this matter.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

This contributes to the effectiveness of the 
Assurance Risk and Audit Team in Enterprise-
wide Risk Management.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Considered – not required.

Wards Affected None specifically

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

This will contribute to the achievement of council 
plan priorities, specifically Creating a Sustainable 
Business.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Phil Tibble

Lead Officer Emma Thompson
Assurance Risk and Audit Manager
(01900) 702988
emma.thompson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Report Implications (Please delete where applicable)

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0 Introduction

The Audit Committee approves the Assurance Risk and Audit (ARA) Strategy 
on an annual basis, this strategy sets out how the ARA Manager will develop 
the work plan for 2017/18.

2.0 The Strategy

2.1     This strategy must demonstrate the balance between the corporate need for 
internal audit advice, guidance and assurance, and the statutory 
responsibilities of the Account and Audit Regulations 2015, the standards and 
expectations of the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIASs), the 
Constitution, external stakeholders and the Audit Committee. The Delivering 
Good Governance Framework 2016 also defines the follow up of agreed 
actions and the regular audit of risk management, performance and data 
quality as some of the criteria of good governance.

3.0     Methodology

3.1 The approach for the plan this year has been developed by the team to 
ensure the resource is aligned to the Delivery Plan 2017/18, where the time 
spent will add most value to the achievement of organisational goals. This 
strategy will detail how the annual plan will be delivered in accordance with 
the Assurance Risk and Audit Charter and the organisations objectives and 
priorities. The risk based plan will include sufficient work to produce an annual 
opinion on the adequacy of the assurance framework to support the Annual 
Governance Statement.

4.0     Adding Value 

4.1     This has been developed to ensure the council receives maximum benefit 
from the limited resources available. The approach is substantially different 
from approaches adopted formally, however we endeavour to move with the 
changing nature of Local Government challenges and ensure we can make a 
direct impact on the delivery of council priorities.

4.2 The plan will be broken down into all areas of work, to provide a guide to 
internal audit activity and apply the elements of Performance Standard 2000, 
which states the risk based plan must incorporate or be linked to a strategic or 
high-level statement of how the service will be delivered and how it links to the 

Page 52



organisational objectives and priorities. We will not allocate specific audit 
assignments to individual officers at this stage, due to their being two relatively 
new team members getting themselves established with the work plan (August 
2015 and April 2016). We will endeavour to allocate specific reviews at the 
earliest opportunity. 

5.0      Finance/Resource Implications

5.1     The plan will be based on the Full Time Equivalent resource of the Assurance, 
Risk and Audit Team with an additional 20 days resource from the 
Governance Support Assistants. There are no additional budget requirements. 

6.0     Legal Implications and Risks

6.1      This strategy considers the legal requirements that all principal local 
authorities and other relevant bodies subject to the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2015 (amended), the Accounts and Audit (Wales) 
regulations 2005, section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
and the Amendment to the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2006 must make provision for internal audit in 
accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

6.2 Small teams delivering Internal Audit services have to constantly be aware of 
the importance of managing risks that may affect standard 1100 ‘the Internal 
Audit Activity being independent and objective while performing their work’. 
Both the ARA Manager and the ARA Assistant are members of the Chartered 
Institute of Internal Auditors who are bound by their professional code of 
ethics. This Strategy will be used to develop a work plan. Reviews will be 
allocated to the most appropriate team member in terms of competency and 
previous audit and consultancy engagements to ensure that independence is 
not impaired.

7.0     Recommendations

7.1 To accept the Assurance Risk and Audit Strategy 2017/18.

Emma Thompson
Assurance Risk and Audit Manager

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Strategic Plan 2017/18

Delivering independent assurance, advice and 
consulting services to Allerdale Borough Council to 

support the achievement of objectives and the delivery 
and coordination of organisational integrated assurance.

Delivering Value Differently

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Page 55



1      Introduction

1.1    During 2015/16 the Council improved the risk management framework by embedding and 
committing to an Integrated Assurance Strategy, based on the three lines of defence model, 
incorporating a risk framework that is in line with risk management best practice. The Council 
now has a maintained Risks and Issues Log for corporate risks to the achievement of the 
Council’s objectives outlined in the Councils Commitment to Local Communities 2015-19. 
Starting in 2017/18 the Council will for the first time have one Business Plan, which will outline 
what all services wish to achieve in the current financial year, this will assist with the 
prioritisation of Assurance activities going forward.

1.2    This strategy must demonstrate the balance between the corporate need for internal audit 
advice, guidance and assurance, and the statutory responsibilities of the Account and Audit 
Regulations 2015, the standards and expectations of the Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards (PSIASs), the Constitution, external stakeholders and the Audit Committee. The 
Delivering Good Governance Framework 2016 also defines the follow up of agreed actions and 
the regular audit of risk management, performance and data quality as some of the criteria of 
good governance. 

  1.3   To ensure efficiency and effectiveness the majority of Assurance, Risk and Audit work should be 
providing advice and guidance within the first line of defence, in a proactive role looking forward 
rather than a reactive role looking back on past events, whilst maintaining the necessary 
independence and objectivity. The Assurance, Risk and Audit Team will continue to have an 
active role on the Procurement Commissioning and Project Board (PCPB) providing ongoing 
assurances over the risk management, governance and control activities throughout the project 
lifecycle from business case to post implementation review. Improving fraud awareness is a 
continuing priority and this has been specifically detailed as a priority within this year’s plan. The 
section will continue to be the main point of contact for the National Fraud Initiative and 
coordinate these activities following the full dataset match in December 2016, the team will be 
committed to investigating the results as they are released.

1.4 The role of the team to support Enterprise Wide Risk Management best practice will continue in 
the form of facilitating six monthly risk workshops with the Senior Management Team (SMT) and 
Third Tier Managers, meeting with SMT every six months to go through their risk profile and 
provide them with any support they need with the risk management process and to facilitate any 
risk profiling workshops when new risks emerge for example the ongoing horizon scanning of 
Brexit risks.

2       What is Risk based Internal Auditing? 

2.1    The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors defines risk based internal auditing (RBIA) as a 
methodology that links internal auditing to an organisation's overall risk management 
framework. RBIA allows internal audit activity to provide assurance to the Audit Committee and 
senior management that risk management processes are managing risks effectively, in relation 
to the stated risk appetite. RBIA seeks at every stage to reinforce the responsibilities of 
management, the Executive and Audit Committee for managing risk and recommend 
enhancements to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of these processes.

Page 56



2.2 Applying the principles of risk based internal auditing.

3 Resource

3.1   The approach for the plan this year has been developed by the team to ensure the resource is 
aligned to the Delivery Plan 2017/18, where the time spent will add most value to the 
achievement of organisational goals. This strategy will detail how the annual plan will be 
delivered in accordance with the Assurance Risk and Audit Charter and the organisations 
objectives and priorities. The risk based plan will include sufficient work to produce an annual 
opinion on the adequacy of the assurance framework to support the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

3.2   The plan will be based on the Full Time Equivalent resource of the Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Team with additional resource from the Governance Support Assistants. The plan will be broken 
down into all areas of work, to provide a guide to internal audit activity and apply the elements of 
Performance Standard 2000, which states the risk based plan must incorporate or be linked to a 
strategic or high-level statement of how the service will be delivered and how it links to the 
organisational objectives and priorities. We will not allocate specific audit assignments to 
individual officers at this stage, due to their being two relatively new team members getting 
themselves established with the work plan (August 2015 and April 2016). We will endeavour to 
allocate specific reviews at the earliest opportunity. To further enhance this plan where possible 
the PSIASs link will be made against the relevant activities.

4      Audit Plan

Moving forward and in line with the Planning Performance Standard 2010 the plan will be 
prioritised in relation to the risk management activities and organisational objectives for each 
area of the Council. For 2017/18 these will be defined by the Council in a number of ways:

 The 2017/18 budget

Page 57



 The Business Plan 17/18 – key projects to be delivered which directly link with the 
strategic objectives of the Council set out in the Council Plan 2015-19

 The Corporate Risks and Issues log

 Service Risk Registers

 Annual Governance Statement 

This information will be used to create an Audit plan focused on adding maximum value to the 
things that mean the most to Allerdale, this focus will drive efficiency and effectiveness in project 
delivery and ensure the benefits from improvements are experienced throughout the business. 
The plan of reviews will be made up of two parts, risk based statutory assurance reviews and 
risk based assurance reviews.

4.1   Statutory Audit and Assurance Reviews

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 make the ‘body’ (Council) responsible for 
‘maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit’ service. The internal audit service must 
complete sufficient work to provide an opinion over the adequacy of the system of internal 
control for the Council’s financial systems. 

A risk based approach will be adopted for 2017. The risk profile and assurances in place for 
Financial Services and Customer Operations will be used to scope each review following the 
methodology in the table below.

 Financial Services

 Customer Operations (formally customer services, Revenues and Benefits)

The PSIAS also highlight the following areas as key areas for review:

ICT - The internal audit activity must assess whether the information technology governance of 
the organisation supports the organisation’s strategies and objectives.

Risk Management - The internal audit activity must evaluate the effectiveness and contribute to 
the improvement of risk management processes.

Ethic and Culture - The internal audit activity must evaluate the design, implementation and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s ethics-related objectives, programmes and activities.

Methodology for Planning the Scope of 
Statutory Reviews

Assurance and Risk Rationale

Follow up of agreed actions Directing resource to areas highlighted as high 
risk or limited assurance

Supporting the team with the update of the 
assurance map for the entire Service

Identify where assurances exist, where 
opportunities for improvement can be realised 
and promotes management ownership of risk 
management and assurance.

Meetings with Heads of Service and key 
Officers to establish the key operational 
priorities and issues for this year.

Consideration of key business priorities as 
defined by stakeholders

Page 58



Review of the Corporate Risks and Issues Log 
and Service Risk Assessments 

To validate and prioritise the scope of work to 
add value and improve governance, risk 
management and control processes. 

Outline an independent testing plan with input 
from all team members to ensure all aspects of 
corporate knowledge and experience is 
included.

To validate the activities defined by the service 
as providing assurance and managing key 
risks as part of the service assurance map and 
risk registers. To direct resource to the highest 
risks and main objectives for the service.

Deliver comprehensive results together – one 
report for Services and one for Customer 
Operations.

Improves productivity with more efficient and 
effective delivery of services, more time 
providing assurance less time report writing. 
Aligning audit delivery with service delivery 
making improvements more practicable for 
implementation – all in one place approach.

4.2    Risk Based Assurance Reviews 

We want to support every area of the business by creating a plan where there is time for 
independent assurance over every area of operation and of course additional time allocated of 
advice and contingency reviews as they arise.

Our aim is to add value to EVERY area of the business and really improve our business 
partnering role, allocating days proportionally based on the following factors.

 Number of Business Plan projects

 Budget

 Number and Scoring of Corporate Risks and Issues

 Service Risks 

 AGS Significant Issues / areas for improvement

 Corporate knowledge and information shared in relation to the challenges and 
opportunities in the areas based on, interviews with Head of Service, and membership in 
the following groups; 

- Procurement Commissioning and Projects

- Employee Engagement Group 

- Governance Group 

- Policy Group

The scope of work will be defined in real time when the area appears next in the ARA work 
schedule. ARA resource will focus on the highest risks and the main objectives the service 
intend to deliver to support the achievement of the Business Plan 17/18 and ultimately the 
Council plan 2015-19.  The scope of work will be defined and agreed by the team collectively 
to ensure all information, knowledge and experience is included in the risk assessment. This 
approach will be a development opportunity for the whole team and support succession 
planning by sharing knowledge and experience.

Page 59



To maintain independence work will be planned and allocated to the appropriate team member 
to ensure the standards are met and assurance is not impaired, such as rotating staff at least 
every three years and ensuring no reviews are completed by officers who have had previous 
responsibilities in the service area.

5 Approval and Communication

5.1     This has been developed to ensure the council receives maximum benefit from the limited 
resources available. The approach is substantially different from approaches adopted formally, 
however we endeavour to move with the changing nature of Local Government challenges and 
ensure we can make a direct impact on the delivery of council priorities.  

5.2     The Audit Committee approves these plans in line with the Assurance risk and Audit Charter 
and Terms of Reference. Plans are communicated and consulted with the Senior Management 
Team prior to approval. This strategy allows for flexibility in approach to respond to business 
needs, changes in the operating environment and corporate governance support. The service 
will continue to encourage advice and guidance support at the earliest opportunity to ensure 
technical advice is provided at the right time to strengthen the decision making process. 

Please phone (01XXX XXXXXX) if you would like a copy of this document in a different format

Page 60



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Audit Committee - 17th February 2017 
Council – 1st March 2017 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

2017/18 
 

  
The Reason for the Decision Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 

2003, statutory guidance issued by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (CLG) and 
codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) require 
the Council to prepare and approve, before the start 
of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) and Investment Strategy setting out 
its proposed treasury management activities 
for the year and policies for the prudent 
management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) indicating how it is 
proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury 
indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its 
capital expenditure plans are affordable and 
that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

  
Summary of options considered  N/A   
  
Recommendations It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement & Investment Strategy for 2017/18 
(included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 
(of Appendix 1).  

c)  the prudential and treasury indicators -including 
the Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit set out 
in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

  
 
 

 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Financial/Resource Implications None directly, however the Council provides for 
interest receivable and interest payable and MRP  
within its annual revenue budget. 

  
Legal Implications Noted above 
  
Community Safety Implications None directly 
  
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria 
by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.   

  

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed 

N/A 
 

  
Wards Affected None directly 
  
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives 

Effective treasury management and compliance with 
the Prudential Code will provide support towards the 
achievement of the Council’s business and service 
objectives. 

  
Is this a Key Decision No 
  
Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon 
  
Lead Officer  Barry Lennox  

Financial Services Manager    
Ext: 2586  
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

 
 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 
Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) N 

Legal Y Partnership N 

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N 

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N 

 

Background papers    

Appendix 1:  Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Policy Statement - 2017/18 

 

Page 62



1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) and codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), require the Council to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how it is proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2 This report - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and codes 
of practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury management and capital 
finance - presents for approval by the full council, the Council’s proposed:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2017/18  

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2017/18 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for 2017/18 to 2019/20.  

1.3 The Council’s proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 
2017/18 are appended to this report (Appendix 1). The proposed TMSS, 
Investment Strategy and MRP policy for 2017/18 includes no significant 
changes to the policies and strategies adopted in respect of the financial year 
2016/17. 

1.4 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including the report covering those matters listed in paragraph 1.2 
above - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
full council. 

1.5 The following sections provide an overview and summary of the contents of 
the proposed TMSS, Investment Strategy and MRP policy statement included 
in Appendix 1 to this report. 

 

 

Page 63



2.0  Treasury Management Strategy Statement   

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the Council’s 
proposed treasury management activities for the year - based on budget 
proposals, interest rate forecasts and economic outlook.   

2.2 The issues covered in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement include: 

 the current treasury position  

 treasury indicators required by CIPFAs Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities and Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and accompanying sector guidance   

 economic background and prospects for interest rates  

 borrowing strategy   

 policy on borrowing in advance of need   

 debt rescheduling   

 policy on the use of derivatives 

 the process adopted for reviewing and addressing the training needs of 
officers and members in relation to treasury management 

 use of treasury management consultants including services provided 
and procedures employed for monitoring the quality of those services. 

2.3 The Council’s treasury activities expose it to a number of financial and 
operational risks including credit and counterparty risk, liquidity risk, and 
interest rate risk. The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement 
highlights the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk as being 
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured.  Risk management is therefore central to the 
Council’s adopted treasury management and investment strategies. 

3.0 Investment Strategy 

3.1 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/18 - included in section 3 of 
Appendix 1- sets out the Council’s policies for the prudent financial 
management of its investments and for giving priority first to the security of 
those investments and secondly, to their liquidity.  

3.2 The contents of the Council’s Investment Strategy follow the 
recommendations set out in the CLG Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (second edition). It includes: 

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the Council’s approach on the use of credit 
ratings and other sources of information to assess credit and 
counterparty risk   

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

Page 64



 limits placed on the amount that may be invested with any single 
institution or group of institutions  

 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 
committed 

 reporting arrangements.  

4.0  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2017/18 

4.1 The MRP is an annual amount required to be set aside from the General Fund 
to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or through credit 
arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing arrangements (finance 
leases). The Council’s proposed MRP policy, setting out how it will discharge 
the duty under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) to make prudent MRP in the 
financial year, is set out in section 4 of Appendix 1.  It includes: 

 a description of what MRP is intended to achieve 

 commentary on the Council’s underlying duty to make prudent 
provision and ensure that debt is repaid over a period commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or - for 
borrowing supported by central government funding (Revenue Support 
Grant) - over the period implicit in the determination of that funding 

 consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating MRP outlined in the 
statutory guidance on MRP and the restrictions on their use 

 the policy proposed for the forthcoming year.  

4.2 Having regard to the statutory guidance on MRP issued by CLG and the 
‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance the Council will calculate 
MRP:  

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 April 
2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of the preceding financial year (Option 2- CFR 
method)   

 for unsupported capital expenditure funded from borrowing expenditure 
incurred after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset Life Method, 
using either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases) by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

5.0  Prudential & Treasury Indicators  

5.1 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires local 
authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence and sustainability of their 
capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits and 

Page 65



by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them 
to ensure their treasury management practices are in accordance with good 
practice.  

5.2 The prudential and treasury indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year. They may be 
revised at any time, following due process, and must be reviewed, and revised 
if appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are set for 
the following year. 

5.3 The Council’s prudential and treasury indicators for 2017/18 and following 
years are set out in section 5 of Appendix 1. They include:  

 indicators required by the Prudential Code covering affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury 
management. These include the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Authorised Limit for External Debt) 

 indicators required by the sector guidance accompanying the Treasury 
Management Code and designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within defined limits 

6.0  Recommendations  

6.1 It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy for 2017/18 (included in sections 2 and 3 of 
Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1).  

c)  the prudential and treasury indicators -including the Council’s 
Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

 

Page 66



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy 

Minimum Revenue  
Provision Policy 

2017/2018 
 

 

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 

Page 67



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 2 

 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Page 68



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 3 

 

Contents     

1.  Introduction ........................................................................................................ 4 

1.1   Background  .................................................................................................. 4 

1.2   Reporting requirements  ................................................................................ 4 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) ........................................ 6 

2.1   Current treasury position  .............................................................................. 6 

2.2   Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing & investing activity  ........................ 6 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  .......................................................................... 7 

2.4   Borrowing strategy  ..................................................................................... 11 

2.5   Policy on borrowing in advance of need  ..................................................... 11 

2.6   Debt rescheduling  ...................................................................................... 12 

2.7   Policy on the use of derivatives   ................................................................. 13 

2.8   Training  ...................................................................................................... 13 

2.9 Treasury management consultants  ........................................................... 14 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy ............................................................................ 15 

3.1   Investment policy - objectives ..................................................................... 15 

3.2   Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management) ....................................... 15 

3.3   Approved investment counterparties  .......................................................... 15 

3.4   Approved instruments ................................................................................. 17 

3.5   Limits on principal sums invested................................................................ 18 

3.6   Limits on investment maturities ................................................................... 18 

3.7   Sovereign credit ratings .............................................................................. 19 

3.8   Reporting arrangements   ........................................................................... 20 

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement ................................... 21 

5.  Prudential & treasury Indicators 2017/18 - 2019/20 ....................................... 24 

5.1   Indicators required by the Prudential Code  ................................................ 24 

5.2   Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code ............................. 30 

6.  Appendices ....................................................................................................... 33 

A.   Interest Rate Forecasts 2017 - 2020 ............................................................ 34 

B.   Economic Background  ................................................................................. 35 

C.   Short & Long term credit ratings  .................................................................. 43 

 

 

 

Page 69



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 4 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1  Background 

1.1.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisations investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”.  

1.1.2 This definition expects a ‘best value’ approach in which authorities should 
seek to minimise the cost of borrowing (or maximise the returns from 
investment), subject to the over-riding management of risks, with risk 
limitation being more important than return (yield). 

1.1.3 The statutory framework for treasury management within local authorities is 
laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and codes of practice, 
the key elements of which are:  

 The Local Government Act 2003 - (‘the 2003 Act’) 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 2003 Regulations’)  

 Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) Guidance 
on Local Government Investments - second edition (March 2010) 

 CLG guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - third edition (February 
2012) 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2011 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’) 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2011 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’) 

1.2  Reporting requirements 

1.2.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government and Codes of Practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury 
management and capital finance, require local authorities to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year - based on budget proposals, interest rate forecasts and 
economic outlook - and policies for the prudent management of its 
investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how, in the forthcoming financial year, the duty to 
make prudent MRP will be discharged 

Page 70



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 5 

 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Code also requires authorities to ensure that the 
Full Council receives:  

 a mid-year review providing:  

- an update on the economic environment  and interest rate 
forecasts 

- a Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy update, including details of variations (if any) from 
agreed policies/practices 

- a review of investing and borrowing activities  

- confirmation of compliance with treasury and prudential 
indicators.  

 after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the 
treasury management function, on the effects of the decisions taken 
and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the Council’s treasury 
management policy statement. 

1.2.3 This document - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and 
codes of practice referred to above - sets out the Council’s:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy for 2017/18  

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement for 2017/18 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20.  

1.2.4 The TMSS and Investment Strategy, MRP policy and the prudential and 
treasury indicators are required to be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which they relate. 

1.2.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including this report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Full Council. 

 

Page 71



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 6 

 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

2.1  Current treasury position  

2.1.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31st December 2016 is 
summarised in table 1. Table 1 also shows a comparison of the Council’s 
actual external debt (borrowing) postion with its underlying capital borrowing 
need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or 
under borrowing. 

Table 1: Investment and borrowing 

 At 31 
Dec 2016  

£000 

At 31 
Mar 2016  

£000 

At 31 
Dec 2015  

£000 

At 31 
Mar 2015  

£000 

Investments     

Specified Investments:      

Term, call & notice accounts  4,334 3,216 2,874 7,024 

Money Market Funds  11,391 6,351 10,316 3,813 

Non-specified investments:     

UK Government securities 0 0 0 1 

Equities  11 11 10 10 

Total investments 15,736 9,578 13,200 10,848 

Borrowing      

PWLB 13,693 13,829 9,833 9,885 

Other borrowing 94 94 93 245 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total (gross) debt 13,787 13,923 9,926 10,130 

Capital Financing Requirement 18,375 17,449 14,009 13,355 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (4,588) (3,526) (4,083) (3,225) 

2.2  Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing and lending activity 

2.2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires a local authority to create and keep 
under review limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
authorities must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
external debt’) are set out in the Prudential Code which authorities must 
‘have regard to’. An authority is free to vary its affordable borrowing limit - 
subject to approval by Full Council – provided there is good reason for doing 
so. However breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by the 
2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires. 

2.2.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

Page 72



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 7 

 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year and 
reflecting the authority’s plans for capital expenditure, estimated capital 
financing requirement (CFR) and cash flow requirements for the year 
for all purposes 

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years. 

 placing upper limits on:  

- fixed interest and variable interest rate exposures 

- the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days 

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of its fixed rate 
borrowing. 

2.2.3 Details of the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators are set out in 
section 5 of this report. 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  

2.3.1 The Council has appointed Capita Asset Services as its treasury advisor. 
Part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest 
rates. Capita Asset Services undertook its latest review of interest rate 
forecasts in November 2016. These latest forecasts take into account the 
Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report for November 2016, the decision 
of the MPC meeting of 3 November, and the US Presidential election of 8 
November.  

Table 2: Forecast interest rates 2017-2012 

Quarter ending Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates1  

 % 5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year % 

26 Jan 2017 0.25 1.55 2.34 2.96 2.72 

Mar 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Jun 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Sep 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Dec 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.80 

Mar 2018 0.25 1.70 2.30 3.00 2.80 

Jun 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80 

Sept 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.10 2.90 

Dec 2018 0.25 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90 

Mar 2019 0.25 1.80 2.50 3.20 3.00 

Jun 2019 0.50 1.90 2.50 3.20 3.00 

Sept 2019 0.50 1.90 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Dec 2019 0.75 2.00 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Mar 2020 0.75 2.00 2.70 3.40 3.20 

 1
Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 

apply to authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 

borrowing and associated capital spending. 

Page 73



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 8 

 

2.3.2 These forecasts are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan 
rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most authorities 
since 2012. It includes a first increase in the Bank Rate in quarter 2 of 2016, 
together with a trend of rising PWLB borrowing rates over the forecast period 

2.3.3 The Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), cut the Bank Rate from 0.50% to 
0.25% on 4th August in order to counteract what it forecast was going to be a 
sharp slowdown in growth in the second half of 2016.  It also gave a strong 
steer that it was likely to cut Bank Rate again by the end of the year if the 
economic outlook remained broadly consistent with the one set out in the 
Bank of England’s August Inflation Report. However, economic data since 
August has indicated much stronger growth in the second half 2016 than 
forecast. Inflation forecasts have also risen substantially as a result of a 
continuation of the sharp fall in the value of sterling since early August. 
Consequently, the Bank Rate was not cut again in November or December 
and on current trends, it now appears unlikely that there will be another cut, 
although that cannot be completely ruled out if there was a significant dip 
downwards in economic growth.    

2.3.4 During the two-year period 2017 to 2019, when the UK is negotiating the 
terms for withdrawal from the EU, it is likely that the MPC will do nothing to 
dampen growth prospects, (i.e. by raising Bank Rate), which will already be 
adversely impacted by the uncertainties of what form Brexit will eventually 
take.  Accordingly, a first increase to 0.50% is not tentatively pencilled in, as 
in the table above, until quarter 2 of 2019, after those negotiations have been 
concluded, (though the period for negotiations could be extended). However, 
if strong domestically generated inflation, (e.g. from wage increases within 
the UK), were to emerge, then the pace and timing of increases in Bank Rate 
could be brought forward. 

2.3.5 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts (and also MPC 
decisions), will, therefore, be liable to further amendment depending on how 
economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a 
major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-
year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments.  

2.3.6 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the 
downside, particularly in view of the current uncertainty over the final terms of 
Brexit and the timetable for its implementation. 

2.3.7 In line with the base rate forecasts investment returns are likely to remain low 
during 2017/18 and beyond. As a consequence there will remain a cost of 
carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost – the difference 
between borrowing costs and investment returns. 

2.3.8 PWLB rates and gilt yields have been experiencing exceptional levels of 
volatility that have been highly correlated to geo-political, sovereign debt 

Page 74



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 9 

 

crisis and emerging market developments. It is likely that these exceptional 
levels of volatility could continue for the foreseeable future as investor fears 
and confidence ebb and flow between favouring more risky assets i.e. 
equities, or the safe haven of bonds. 

2.3.9 Notwithstanding the exceptional levels of volatility experienced over the 
course of 2016 borrowing interest rates have been on a generally downward 
trend during most of 2016. Rates fell sharply to historically low levels in the 
immediate aftermath of the EU referendum. Further sharp falls followed in early 
August following the Bank of England’s decision to cut the bank rate and expand 
its quantitative easing programme. 

2.3.10 After reaching exceptionally low levels in August, gilt yields (and PWLB 
borrowing rates) have since risen sharply due to a rise in concerns around a 
‘hard Brexit’, the fall in the value of sterling and an increase in inflation 
expectations 

2.3.11 The overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit 
gently. It has long been expected that at some point, there would be a start to 
a switch back from bonds to equities after a historic long-term trend over 
about the last twenty five years of falling bond yields.  The action of central 
banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing substantial 
quantitative easing purchases of bonds, added further impetus to this 
downward trend in bond yields and rising prices of bonds.  The opposite side 
of this coin has been a rise in equity values as investors searched for higher 
returns and took on riskier assets.   

2.3.12 The sharp rise in bond yields since the US Presidential election, has called 
into question whether, or when, this trend has, or may, reverse, especially 
when America is likely to lead the way in reversing monetary policy.  Until 
2015, monetary policy was focused on providing stimulus to economic growth 
but has since started to refocus on countering the threat of rising inflationary 
pressures as strong economic growth becomes more firmly established.  

2.3.13 The expected substantial rise in the Federal Reserve Rate over the next few 
years may make holding US bonds much less attractive and cause their 
prices to fall and therefore bond yields to rise. Rising bond yields in the US 
would be likely to exert some upward pressure on bond yields in other 
developed countries but the degree of that upward pressure is likely to be 
dampened by how strong, or weak, the prospects for economic growth and 
rising inflation are in each country, and on the degree of progress in the 
reversal of monetary policy away from quantitative easing and other credit 
stimulus measures. 

2.3.14 Over the next few years the Federal Reserve Rate is likely to go up more 
quickly and more strongly than Bank Rate in the UK.  Whilst there is normally 
a high degree of correlation between treasury and gilt yields, there is an 
expectation of a growing decoupling between the two rates with US yields 
expected to go up faster than UK yields. This situation will need to be 
monitored closely along with the resulting effect on PWLB rates. 

Page 75



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 10 

 

2.3.15 Apart from the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for 
UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 monetary policy action by the central banks of major economies 
reaching its limit of effectiveness and failing to stimulate significant 
sustainable growth, combat the threat of deflation (especially the 
Eurozone and Japan) and reduce high levels of debt in some 
countries, combined with a lack of adequate action from national 
governments to promote growth through structural reforms, fiscal 
policy and investment expenditure 

 major national polls:  

- Italian constitutional referendum 4.12.16; resulted in a ‘No’ 
vote which led to the resignation of Prime Minister Renzi. This 
means that Italy needs to appoint a new government 

- Spain has a minority government with only 137 seats out of 
350 after already having had two inconclusive general 
elections in 2015 and 2016. This is potentially highly unstable.  

- Dutch general election 15.3.17  

- French presidential election April/May 2017;  

- French National Assembly election June 2017  

- German Federal election August – October 2017  

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, with Greece 
being a particular problem and stress arising from disagreement 
between EU countries on free movement of people and how to 
handle a huge influx of immigrants and terrorist threats 

 weak capitalisation of some European banks, especially Italian 

 geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, causing a 
significant increase in safe haven flows. 

 UK economic growth and increases in inflation turning weaker than 
currently anticipated 

 weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU 
and US.  

2.3.16 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates, include:  

 UK inflation rising to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU 
and in the US, causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent 
to gilt yields  

 a rise in US Treasury yields as a result of US Federal Funds Rate 
increases and rising inflation expectations in the USA, dragging UK 
gilt yields upwards 

 the pace and timing of increases in the US Federal Funds Rate 
causing a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative 
risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities and leading to a major 
flight from bonds to equities 

Page 76



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 11 

 

 a downward revision to the UK’s sovereign credit rating undermining 
investor confidence in holding sovereign debt (gilts). 

2.3.17 A more detailed commentary on the economic background underpinning current 
interest rate forecasts is included in Appendix B. 

2.4  Borrowing strategy  

2.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position (see table 
1).  This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising 
cash from reserves, revenue balances  and favourable cashflow the Council 
has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR. This 
has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk 
by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is prudent as 
investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to 
be considered. The Council will continue with this policy during 2017/18 to 
the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures.  

2.4.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2017/18 treasury operations.  Treasury staff will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short-term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long-term borrowings will 
be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into 
short term borrowing will be considered. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short-term rates than that currently forecast, (e.g. due an 
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates 
in the USA and UK, to a greater than expected increase in global 
economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks), then the 
portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action being that 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than 
they will be in the next few years. 

2.4.3 Any decisions taken in this regard will be reported to members at the next 
available opportunity. 

2.5  Policy on borrowing in advance of need   

2.5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future. However, the speculative procedure of borrowing purely or 
explicitly for the purpose of re-investment remains unlawful. 

Page 77



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 12 

 

2.5.2 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

2.5.3 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism.  

2.6  Debt rescheduling  

2.6.1 Debt rescheduling includes the premature repayment of loans and the 
replacement of existing loans with new loans on different terms (repayment 
method, loan period, interest rate). The reasons for rescheduling include:  

 aligning long-term cash flow projections and debt levels in order 
redistribute the burden of debt financing costs between years of account  

 generating savings in risk adjusted interest costs 

 rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio to reduce 
exposures to interest rate risk   

 changing the size and/or maturity profile of the debt portfolio to reduce 
refinancing risk exposures and/or align the debt maturity profile with the 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing 
requirement).   

2.6.2 As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings 
by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt.  However, these savings 
will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the 
size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  

2.6.3 Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential 
for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short-term rates on investments are likely to be lower than 
rates paid on current debt.   

2.6.4 The economic environment and consequent structure of interest rates has 
limited the Council’s rescheduling opportunities during recent years. The 
Council will however continue to monitor interest rate structures for 
opportunities to reschedule debt in order to generate savings and/or 
rebalance risks within the loan portfolio. All rescheduling will be reported to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council at the earliest meeting following its 
action. 

 

 

Page 78



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 13 

 

2.7  Policy on the use of derivatives   

2.7.1 The Council will only use derivatives for the management of risk and for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs. Transactions involving 
standalone derivative products such as forward rate agreements, interest 
rate swaps and options (interest rate caps, floors and collars) require 
authorisation by the Head of Financial Services and will only be entered into:  

 after seeking proper advice to ensure the product is fully understood 
including how underlying risks are affected and the additional risks that 
may result from its use (for example credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties) 

 after seeking confirmation that the Council has legal power to enter into 
the transaction 

 where use of the product can be shown to reduce the overall level of 
financial risks the Council is exposed to (after taking into consideration 
additional risks that may result from use of the derivative instrument) 

 after ensuring treasury staff have received training to ensure competent 
use of the product. 

2.7.2 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria outlined in section 3 below. The 
current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty limits set out in paragraph 3.5.1. 

2.8  Training   

2.8.1 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes require the responsible officer (the Head of Financial 
Services) to ensure that:  

 all staff involved in the treasury management function are fully equipped 
to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them 

 members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 
those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and those responsibilities. 

2.8.2 In complying with these requirements the Council regularly reviews the 
training needs of officers and members and training will be arranged as 
required to ensure that officers and members have the requisite skills and 
knowledge.  

Page 79



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 14 

 

2.9  Treasury management consultants  

2.9.1 The Council currently uses Capita Asset Services, Treasury Solutions (Capita) 
as its external treasury management advisors. They provide a range of 
services to the Council including: 

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues 

 economic and interest rate analysis 

 debt services including advice on the timing of borrowing 

 debt rescheduling advice  

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments 

 credit ratings and creditworthiness information.  

2.9.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  

2.9.3  Capita Asset Services were appointed in 2013 for the three year period 2013-
2016. An exercise for the procurement treasury advisory services for the 
three year period 2017/18 to 2019/20 will be completed during 2016/17. Any 
changes to the arrangements and methodologies described in this document 
following completion of this exercise will be reported to members at the 
earliest available opportunity thereafter.  

Page 80



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 15 

 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy 

3.1  Investment policy - objectives  

3.1.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (‘CLG Investment Guidance’) and CIPFA’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2011Edition (‘the Treasury Management Code’). 

3.1.2 Accordingly, the Council’s primary policy objective in relation to its investment 
activity is to ensure the security of principal sums invested in priority to 
liquidity (second) and yield (third). The Council will aim to achieve the 
optimum return on its investments commensurate with the proper levels of 
security and liquidity. However, yield will only determine investment decisions 
when deciding between two or more investments satisfying security and 
liquidity objectives. 

3.2  Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management)  

3.2.1 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty (section 3.3) 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used (section 3.4) 

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 
the Council’s list of approved counterparties  (section 3.5) 

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty (section 3.6). 

3.3  Approved investment counterparties   

3.3.1 Counterparties with whom investments may be placed are restricted to 
financial institutions and other bodies of high credit quality. High credit quality 
financial institutions and other bodies are defined by the Council as those 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns). 

3.3.2 The minimum rating criteria applied by the Council uses the lowest common 
denominator method of selecting counterparties and applying limits.  This 
means the Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating 
for any institution.  For example, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one 
rating meets the Council’s criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall 
outside the lending criteria and will be excluded from the list of approved 
counterparties.   

Page 81



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 16 

 

3.3.3 Whilst credit ratings remain a key source of information they are not the sole 
determinant of the Council’s assessment of the credit quality of potential 
counterparties. Before making investment decisions reference will also be 
made to: 

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating 
over the medium term)  

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or 
upgrading of the credit rating could be imminent)  

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms 

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness 
problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit 
ratings). 

3.3.4 This information is fully integrated into the creditworthiness methodology 
used by the Council’s treasury advisors,Capita Asset Services to produce its 
colour coded ratings assessment to indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties. Information provided by this ratings assessment is 
used by the Council to determine the maximum duration of individual 
investment instruments (see section 3.6). 

3.3.5 Other information sources used to assess the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties include the financial press, share price and other 
information pertaining to the banking sector and the economic and political 
environments in which these institutions operate. Regardless of the credit 
rating assigned to an institution if this additional information casts doubt over 
its financial standing then that institution will be removed immediately from 
the Council’s counterparty lending list. 

3.3.6 Credit ratings and creditworthiness information is supplied to the Council by 
Capita Asset Services and monitored weekly. The Council is also alerted by 
email when there is an amendment by any of the agencies to the credit rating 
of an institution.  If as a result of downgrade a counterparty no longer meets 
the Council’s minimum credit ratings criteria it will be removed immediately 
from the Council’s counterparty (dealing) list.  Notification of rating changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks is provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For 
instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty, currently at the 
minimum Council criteria, will result in the counterparty being suspended 
from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions. Capita 
Asset Services also provide the Council with information relating to 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result 
in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 

Page 82



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 17 

 

3.4  Approved instruments  

3.4.1 The types of investment instruments that may be used by the Council - 
subject to the counterparty and maturity limits set out in sections 3.5 and 
3.6 - are shown in table 3. Permitted instruments are categorised as 
either “Specified” or “Non-Specified” investments - as defined in CLGs 
Investment Guidance - to distinguish those (specified) investment 
instruments offering relatively high security and high liquidity from those 
with higher credit risk (non-specified investments). All investments will be 
in sterling. 

Table 3: Permitted investment instruments - specified & non-specified  

Investment Specified 
Non-

Specified 

Term deposits, call and notice accounts with banks & 
building societies 

  

Term deposits with UK local authorities   

Certificates of deposit with banks & building societies    

Gilts issued by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO)   

Treasury Bills (T-bills) issued by the UK DMO   

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks   

Local Authority Bills   

Commercial Paper   

Corporate Bonds   

AAA rated Money Market Funds (with a 60-day 
Weighted Average Maturity (WAM)) 

  

Other Money Market & Collective Investment Schemes   

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility   

Equity investments with other organisations    

3.4.2 A specified investment - offering high security and high liquidity - is defined 
as an investment that is:  

(a)  denominated in sterling with any payments or repayments 
payable only in sterling 

(b)  not a long-term investment (i.e. is repayable within 12 months of 
acquisition)  

(c)  not defined as capital expenditure under regulations (i.e. 
acquisition of share capital)  

(d)  made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit 
quality (as defined by the Council in paragraph 3.3.1) or with the 
UK Government, a local authority or a parish council or 
community council.  

Page 83



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 18 

 

3.4.3 Non-specified investments refer to any investments not meeting the 
definition of ‘specified investments’.  The Council currently holds a limited 
quantity of non-specified investments (unquoted equity shares). These 
account for less than 1% of the Council’s investment portfolio. No 
additional non-specified investments are planned during 2017/18 and all 
new investments made in 2017/18 will be subject to a maximum maturity 
of 364 days.  

3.4.4 Non-specified investment will only be made with prior approval by the 
Head of Financial Services and will only be undertaken:  

 following external credit assessment and due diligence to assess 
the financial strength and creditworthiness of the counterparty, 
and  

 after taking such professional advice as is considered necessary 
to inform the decision to invest. 

3.4.5 In the event that the credit rating of the Council’s banker falls below the 
minimum credit criteria referred to above, the Council will continue to use 
the bank for transactional purposes but will seek to minimise balances as 
far as is possible. 

3.5 Limits on principal sums invested  

3.5.1 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO) the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or 
group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4 million.  
For funds placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the limit is £12m 
(subject to maximum maturity of 3 weeks for all sums in excess of £4m). 

 3.6  Limits on investment maturities    

3.6.1 To ensure that access to cash to meet forecast liquidity is not impaired, 
decisions regarding the maturity of investments instruments must be taken 
having regard to cash flow requirements.  The maturity of investment 
instruments is also subject to the maximum maturity periods set out below 
(table 4). These are established to ensure that access to cash is not unduly 
restricted and to reduce the risk of being locked into an investment whilst the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty is deteriorating. 

3.6.2 The maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed by the 
Council is determined using the Creditworthiness service provided by Capita 
Asset Services. This combines credit ratings information provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s - 
with ratings outlooks and credit watches in a weighted scoring system. This is 
combined with an overlay of credit default swap (CDS) spreads to produce a 
colour rating to indicate the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
These colour codes are used to determine the maximum duration for 
investments made with individual counterparties. 

Page 84



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 19 

 

3.6.3 In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investment terms short to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value 
available in periods of up to 12 months with high credit quality institutions 
using Capita’s creditworthiness approach. Using this approach the Council 
will use the following duration bands - shown in table 4 - subject to a 
maximum maturity of 364 days (from the date of acquisition). 

Table 4: Upper limits on investment maturities  

 Colour rating Maximum duration (term to maturity) 

Yellow 5 years- restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Purple 2 years - restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Orange 12 months 

Red 6 months 

Green 100 days 

No colour 0 months (counterparty not to be used) 

 

3.7 Sovereign credit ratings 

3.7.1 The main rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) have, 
through much of the financial crisis, provided some institutions with a ratings 
“uplift” to reflect implied levels of sovereign support. Commencing in 2015, in 
response to the evolving regulatory regime - designed to see greater stability, 
lower risk and the removal of expectations of government financial support 
should an institution fail - all three agencies have begun removing these 
“uplifts” with the timing of the process determined by regulatory progress at 
the national level.  

3.7.2 The process has been part of a wider reassessment of methodologies by 
each of the rating agencies. In addition to the removal of implied support, 
new methodologies are now taking into account additional factors, such as 
regulatory capital levels. In some cases, these factors have “netted” each 
other off, to leave underlying ratings either unchanged or little changed.  A 
consequence of these new methodologies is that they have also lowered the 
importance of the (Fitch) Support and Viability ratings and have seen the 
(Moody’s) Financial Strength rating withdrawn by the agency.  

3.7.3 As a consequence the agencies’ new methodologies, the rating element of 
the colour coded credit assessment provided by Capita Asset Services no 
longer incorporates Viability, Financial Strength and Support Ratings and 
instead focus solely on the short and long-term ratings of an institution 
supplemented with overlays for credit watches, credit outlooks and CDS 
spreads. While this is the same process that has always been used for 
Standard & Poor’s, this has been a change in the use of Fitch and Moody’s 
ratings. The assessment of Rating Watch and Outlook information as well as 
the Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay remains unchanged. 

Page 85



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 20 

 

3.7.4 These rating agency changes do not reflect any changes in the underlying status 
or credit quality of the institution. They are merely reflective of a reassessment of 
rating agency methodologies in light of enacted and future expected changes to 
the regulatory environment in which financial institutions operate.  

3.7.5 While some banks have received lower credit ratings as a result of these 
changes, this does not mean that they are suddenly less creditworthy than they 
were formerly.  Rather, in the majority of cases, this mainly reflects the fact that 
implied sovereign government support has effectively been withdrawn from 
banks. They are now expected to have sufficiently strong balance sheets to be 
able to withstand foreseeable adverse financial circumstances without 
government support. In fact, in many cases, the balance sheets of banks are 
now much more robust than they were before the 2008 financial crisis when they 
had higher ratings than now. However, this is not universally applicable, leaving 
some entities with modestly lower ratings than they had through much of the 
“support” phase of the financial crisis.  

3.8  Reporting arrangements   

3.8.1 The Treasury Management and Prudential Codes require the Council to 
report regularly on its treasury management activities including its 
performance against all forward-looking prudential and treasury management 
indicators set out in section 5 below. In meeting the recommended reporting 
requirements of the Treasury Management Code (outlined in section 1.2 
above) the Head of Financial Services will, in addition to this report, submit to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council:  

 a mid-year review of the Council’s treasury management activities 
covering the six months to 30th September 2017, and  

 an annual treasury report after the year-end.  

The annual report will be submitted as soon as reasonably practicable after 
the end of the financial year, but in any case no later than 30th September 
2018. 

3.8.2 A summary of treasury management activities will also be included in the 
quarterly finance reports submitted to the Council’s Executive. 

Page 86



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 21 

 

4.   Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

4.1 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local 
authorities to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) for that year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount 
required to be set aside from the General Fund to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded by borrowing or credit arrangements, that is, capital 
expenditure that has not been financed from grants, revenue contributions or 
capital receipts. 

4.2 Regulation 27 also allows authorities to charge to a revenue account any 
amount, in addition to the MRP, in respect of the financing of capital 
expenditure incurred in the current financial year or any financial year before 
the current year (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).  

4.3 The calculation of MRP is covered in regulation 28 of the 2003 Regulations. 
From 31 March 2008, Regulation 28, as amended by Regulation 4(1) of the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (‘the 2008 Regulations’), requires each authority to: 

'determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent.’ 

4.4 The 2003 Regulations (as amended) are accompanied by statutory guidance 
on minimum revenue provision, issued by CLG under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’). In meeting the requirement to 
‘make prudent provision’, the 2003 Act requires local authorities to ‘have 
regard to’ this guidance. This means that an authority must consider what the 
statutory guidance says. It does not mean that a local authority is obligated to 
follow the guidance. However, if an authority does decide to depart from the 
guidance, it must be able to show good reasons for doing so. 

4.5 The current version of regulation 28 was implemented by the 2008 
regulations. It came into force on 31 March 2008 and, along with the statutory 
guidance issued by CLG, is effective for 2007/08 and later years. Before this 
change regulation 28 set out detailed formula - based on an authority’s 
capital financing requirement - which authorities were required to follow when 
calculating MRP.  

4.6 Neither the 2003 Regulations nor the statutory guidance define the term 
“prudent provision”. The statutory guidance does however establish the 
broad aim of making prudent provision, which is to ensure that debt is repaid 
over a period: 

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or 

 for borrowing supported by central government funding (RSG), over the 
period implicit in the determination of that funding. 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/319926/2089512.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/319926/2089512.pdf


TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 22 

 

4.7 The CLG guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of calculating 
a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the four listed in 
the guidance are not ruled out provided they are consistent with the statutory 
duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with wide 
discretion in determining MRP. The statutory guidance also includes specific 
recommendations on the calculation of MRP  in respect of finance leases and 
on-balance PFI  contracts. 

4.8 The four options for calculating MRP  outlined in the CLG guidance, and 
restrictions on their use, are summarised in table 5. 

 

Table 5: Options for prudent provision of MRP  

Option Method of calculation  Applicability and limits on use 

‘Option 1 

Regulatory 
method’ 

Apply the statutory 
formula set out in the 
2003 Regulations (as 
amended) before it was 
revoked by the 2008 
Regulations 

Available for:  

 All capital expenditure incurred before 
1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes incurred on or after 1 
April 2008.  

‘Option 2 

CFR 
method’ 

Multiply the (non-
housing) Capital 
Financing Requirement 
at the end of the 
preceding financial year 
by 4%. 

Available for:  

 All capital expenditure incurred before 
1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes incurred on or after 1 
April 2008.  

‘Option 3 
Asset life 
method’ 

Amortise expenditure 
financed by borrowing 
or credit arrangement 
over the estimated 
useful life of the 
relevant assets using 
either the equal 
instalment or annuity 
method. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that falls 
outside supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes (unsupported capital 
expenditure). This includes all 
expenditure capitalised under 
regulations or direction on or after 1 April 
2008 falling outside the scope of ‘Option 
1’. 

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported 
and whenever incurred. 

‘Option 4 
Depreciation 

method’ 

Charge MRP to revenue 
based on proper 
accounting practices for 
depreciation as they 
apply to the relevant 
assets. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that falls 
outside supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes (unsupported capital 
expenditure). 

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported 
and whenever incurred. 

4.9 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by 
borrowing or credit arrangements, authorities applying ‘Option 3’ should 
calculate MRP by reference to the life of the asset. Two main variants of this 
option exist: (i) the equal instalment method and (ii) the annuity method.  

Page 88



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 23 

 

4.10 Both variations allow authorities to make additional voluntary revenue 
provision (VRP), in which case they may make an appropriate reduction in 
later years’ levels of MRP. Where an authority uses Options 3 or 4, the CFR 
for the purposes of Options 1 and 2 is reduced by the amount of the relevant 
expenditure and cumulative provision for MRP made under Options 3 and 4. 

Policy adopted for 2017/18 

4.11 Having regard to the statutory guidance on minimum revenue provision 
issued by CLG and the ‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance 
the Council will calculate MRP: 

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 
April 2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of the non-
housing Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the preceding 
financial year (Option 2- CFR method)   

 for unsupported capital funded from borrowing expenditure incurred 
after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset life method - using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases), by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

4.12 In applying ‘Option 3’:  

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the 
financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational. 

 The estimated life of the asset should be determined in the year that 
MRP commences and not subsequently be revised.  

 If no life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold 
land, the life should be taken to be a maximum of 50 years. However, 
for freehold land on which a building or other structure is constructed, 
the life of the land may be treated as equal to that of the structure, 
where this would exceed 50 years.  

 For expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction or 
regulation 25(1) of the 2003 regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate 
to the value set out in paragraph 24 of the statutory guidance. 

Page 89



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 24 

 

5.   Prudential and treasury indicators 2017/18 – 2019/20 

5.1  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

5.1.1  The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits, and by publishing actuals for 
a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are carried out in accordance with good professional 
practice.  

5.1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance issued by 
CIPFA, are designed to support and record local decision making. They are 
not designed to be comparative performance indicators and should not be 
used for this purpose. The prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year. They may be revised at any time, following due process, 
and must be reviewed, and revised if appropriate, for the current year when 
the prudential indicators are set for the following year. 

Estimates of capital expenditure 

5.1.3 The estimate of capital expenditure indicator summarises the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans for the forthcoming year and the following two 
financial years.   Estimates of capital expenditure include both those agreed 
previously and those forming part of the current (2017/18) budget cycle. 

5.1.4 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance 
with proper practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with 
regulation 25 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation 
direction issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. Estimates of capital 
expenditure include any capital expenditure that it is estimated might 
(depending on option appraisals) or will be dealt with as other long-term 
liabilities. 

Table 6:  Capital expenditure  

Planned expenditure 2016/17 
Approved1 

£000 

2016/17 
Revised2 

£000 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£000 

Approved in 2016/17 
(& prior years)  

3,265 7,497 3,048 2,050 2,050 

Approved/planned 
2017/18 - 2019/20 

  6,353 5,665 140 

Total expenditure 3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 
1 

Approved capital programme for 2016/17;  
2
 Updated to reflect revised carry forward of budget from 

2015/16 and additional capital bids included in the revised capital budget for 2016/17.   
 

Page 90



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 25 

 

5.1.5  Table 7 shows how these capital expenditure plans will be financed through 
the application of capital and revenue resources.  Any excess of capital 
expenditure over resources applied (unfinanced expenditure) will result in a 
corresponding increase in the underlying need for borrowing (the capital 
financing requirement).   

Table 7:  Financing of capital expenditure 

 2016/2017 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2017/18  

£000 

2018/19  

£000 

2019/20  

£000 

Total expenditure 3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 

Financed by:           

Capital receipts 97 599 0 0 0 

Capital grants 600 2,660 7,426 2,475 1,013 

Revenue/Reserves  650 1,501 0 0 0 

Total financed  1,347 4,760 7,426 2,475 1,013 

Unfinanced expenditure:      

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 0 

Unsupported borrowing  1,918 2,737 1,975 5,240 1,177 

Financed & unfinanced  3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 

1
 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations since 

2010/11 (although the level of assumed outstanding debt is still included in the calculation of formula grant 
allocations). This form of financial support has been discontinued from 2011/12. 

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement  

5.1.6  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position. The 
level of external debt will be determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices and authorities should not 
associate borrowing with particular items of expenditure unless required to do 
so under statute.  

5.1.7  Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue 
provision or a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will 
reduce the CFR.  The CFR includes items of capital expenditure included in 
the Council’s balance sheet associated with other long term liabilities, such 
as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the underlying liability.  

5.1.8 Table 8 sets out estimates of the Council’s capital financing requirement at 
the end of 2017/18 and the following two financial years. 

 

 

Page 91



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 26 

 

Table 8: Capital financing requirement 

 2016/17 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2017/18  

£000 

2018/19  

£000 

2019/20 

£000 

CFR at 1 April 19,078 17,449 19,637 20,967 25,493 

CFR at 31 March 20,587 19,637 20,967 25,493 25,724 

Movement in CFR 1,509 2,188 1,330 4,526 231 

Represented by:      

Unfinanced expenditure    1,918 2,737 1,975 5,240 1,177 

Less MRP/VRP (409) (411) (645) (714) (946) 

Revenue financing of 
2015/16 expend. 

 0 (138)  0  0  0 

Movement in CFR 1,509 2,188 1,330 4,526 231 

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

5.1.9 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose.  

To ensure this is the case the Prudential Code requires that gross external 
debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.  

5.1.10 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. If 
in any of these years there is a reduction in the CFR, this reduction is ignored 
in estimating the cumulative increase in the CFR used for comparison with 
gross external debt. Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities (credit arrangements). 

 Table 9: Gross debt & the CFR 2017/18 

  
 

£000 

Limit  
2017/18 

£000 

Forecast CFR at 31 March 2017  19,637 

Estimated additional CFR for:   

2017/18 (see table 8) 1,330  

2018/19 (see table 8) 4,526  

2019/20 (see table 8) 231 6,087 

Limit  25,724 

Gross Debt 2017/18 (maximum)   

Estimated gross debt at 31March 2017 - existing borrowing  13,701  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2016/17 3,000  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2017/18 1,730  

Estimated gross debt 2017/18  18,431 

Excess of CFR over gross debt  7,293 

Page 92



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 27 

 

5.1.11 At 31st December 2016 the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by approximately £4.6m. The Council does not 
anticpate any difficulties in complying with this indicator during 2017/18 or the 
following two financial years. 

Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1.12 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach 
of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

5.1.13 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table 10: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 2016/17 
Limit 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 
Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 28,000 29,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 25,000 25,000 28,000 29,000 

Operational boundary for external debt 

5.1.14 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Page 93



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 28 

 

Table 11: Operational boundary for external debt 

 2016/17 
Limit 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 

Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 23,000 23,000 26,000 27,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 23,000 23,000 26,000 27,000 

5.1.15 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to 
make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be 
reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council.  

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

5.1.16 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income).  

5.1.17 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and any other long-term 
liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income 

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers. 

5.1.18 Estimates for net revenue stream for current and future years are taken from 
the Council’s estimates of the amounts to be met from government grants 
and local taxpayers, using the equivalent figures from the original and revised 
budgets.   

Table 12: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 2016/17 
Approved 

% 

2016/17 
Revised 

% 

2017/18 
Estimate 

% 

2018/19
Estimate 

% 

2019/20 
Estimate 

% 

Ratio  8.5 7.8 10.3 12.4 15.6 

 

 

Page 94



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 29 

 

Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the 
council tax 

5.1.19 The incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the council tax is a 
fundamental indicator of affordability and highlights the impact of capital 
investment decisions - taken during the current budget cycle - on council tax. 
The incremental impact is calculated by comparing:  

 the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved (three 
year) capital programme (including any updates to forecasts to the 
current programme not arising from capital investment decisions 
being taken during the current budget-making cycle (for example, a 
revision to the expenditure profile or timing of anticipated capital 
receipts).  

 an equivalent calculation of the revenue budget requirement arising 
from the proposed capital programme - incorporating changes to the 
capital program arising from decisions taken during the current 
budget-making cycle. 

5.1.20 Calculations of the incremental impact are based on the Council’s budget 
proposals, but will invariably include some estimates, such as the levels of 
government support, which are not published over a three year period. 
Estimates are made on the basis of best information available at the time and 
by making reasonable assumptions where there is a significant element of 
uncertainty. 

Table 13: Incremental impact of capital investment decisions  

 2016/17 Estimate 

Increase in Band D 
Council Tax  

Approved 

£ 

Revised 

£ 

2017/18 
£ 

2018/19 

£ 

2019/20 

£ 

Capital programme 
2017/18 to 2019/20 

(1.21) (1.15) (0.02) 2.12 10.45 

 

Acceptance of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 

5.1.21 Regulation 24 the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) requires a local authority to ‘have 
regard to’ the CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes when carrying out its capital 
finance functions under Chapter 1 of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 
2003.   

5.1.22 The Council formally approved its adoption of CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management Code and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes on 7th March 2012. 
This followed the publication of the fully revised second edition of the 
Treasury Management Code in 2011.  

Page 95



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 30 

 

5.1.23  Adoption of the Treasury Management Code demonstrates the Council’s 
treasury management practices are carried out in accordance with good 
practice. This includes having in place:  

 formally adopted, codified treasury objectives, policies and practices 

 a clear separation of responsibilities between treasury management 
policy formulation and treasury management execution  

 proper reporting arrangements  

 arrangements which give priority to identifying, monitoring and 
controlling risk. 

5.2  Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

5.2.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper limits on fixed interest and variable interest exposures 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 
days. 

5.2.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and 
refinancing risks.   

 

Upper limits on fixed interest and variable interest exposures 

5.2.3 The upper limits provided by these indicators establish ranges within which 
the Council will manage its exposures to fixed and variable interest rates. 
The sector guidance which accompanies the Treasury Management Code 
allows these limits to be calculated on the basis of absolute amounts or as a 
percentage of the Council’s net interest or net principal sum outstanding on 
its borrowing/investments. Table 14a shows the upper limits on net 
exposures to fixed and variable rate interest rates expressed as a percentage 
of the Council’s projected net interest (payable). Tables 14b and 14c show 
the limits based on principal sums outstanding in respect of fixed and 
variable investments and borrowings expressed as percentages of total 
(gross) investments and borrowing respectively. 

 
5.2.4 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set at a level to ensure 

maximum flexibility of operation given the Council’s interest rate exposure is 
significantly influenced by historic fixed rate debt from the PWLB. 
Investments will be short-term and at fixed or variable rates depending on the 
Council’s requirements and prevailing interest rates. The limit allows for the 
use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on 
investments. 

 

  

Page 96



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 31 

 

Table 14a Upper limit on fixed & variable interest rate - net exposures 

Upper limit  31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Net interest payable/ 
(receivable) on fixed rate 
debt & investments  

105 115 115 115 115 

Net interest payable/ 
(receivable) on variable 
rate debt & investments  

(5) 115 115 115 115 

 

 Table 14b: Upper limits on interest rate exposures – gross investments 

 31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Fixed interest rate 
exposure  

0 100  100  100  100  

Variable interest rate 
exposure 

100 100 100 100 100 

 

 Table 14c: Upper limits on interest rate exposures – gross borrowing  

 31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Fixed interest rate 
exposure  

99.5 100  100  100  100  

Variable interest rate 
exposure 

0.5 100 100 100 100 

 

5.2.5 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will 
be made for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis. These 
decisions will ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated interest 
rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

 

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its (fixed rate) borrowing 

 

5.2.6 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to 
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of 
volatile or high interest rates. 

5.2.7  It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate 
maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is 
fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.  

  

Page 97



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 32 

 

Table 15: Lower/upper limits on % of fixed rate borrowing maturing in each period 

  
  

31.3.16 
Actual  

31.3.17 
forecast 

2016/17  2017/18 

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

  % % % % % % 

Under 12 months 1.82 1.89 0 20 0 20 

12 months to 2 years 1.64 1.71 0 20 0 20 

2 years to 5 years 5.2 5.44 0 20 0 20 

5 years to 10 years 9.87 10.41 0 30 0 30 

10 years to 20 years  17.98 17.20 0 40 0 40 

20 years to 30 years  5.77 4.69 0 40 0 40 

30 years to 40 years  14.43 51.33 0 80 0 80 

40 years to 45 years 43.29 7.33 0 80 0 80 

 

Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days 

5.2.8 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer than 364 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of these limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 364 days is for the local authority to 
contain its exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its 
having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested. 

Table 16: Upper limit for principal sums invested to final maturities beyond the 
period end 

 2016/17 
Approved 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 
Limit 

£000 

Principal sums invested > 364 days 20 20 20 20 

5.2.9 For its cash flow generated balances the Council will seek to utilise its call 
and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 6 months). The Council will not invest for periods longer than 
364 days during 2017/18.

Page 98



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 33 

 

6. Appendices  
 

A. Interest Rate Forecasts 2017 - 2020  

B. Economic Background 

C. Credit Ratings 

Page 99



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 34 

 

Appendix A: Interest Rate Forecasts 2016 – 2020 

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012. 

P
age 100



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 35 

 

Appendix B: Economic Background  

UK Economy 

B.1 UK GDP growth rates in 2013, 2014 and 2015 of 2.2%, 2.9% and 1.8% were 
some of the strongest rates among the G7 countries.  Growth is expected to 
have strengthened in 2016 with the first three quarters coming in respectively at 
+0.4%, +0.6% and +0.6%. Preliminary estimates for quarter 4 also came in at 
0.6% (an increase of 2% over the course of 2016 and 2.2% on the previous 
year’s quarter) with the services sector continuing to play a major role in driving 
the growth. Over the calendar year, the services, production and construction 
industries grew by 2.8%, 1.1% and 1.4% respectively. 

B.2 The latest Bank of England forecast for growth in 2016 as a whole is +2.2%. 
The figure for quarter 3 was a pleasant surprise which confounded the 
downbeat forecast by the Bank of England in August of only +0.1%, 
(subsequently revised up in September, but only to +0.2%).  During most of 
2015 and the first half of 2016, the economy had been facing headwinds for 
exporters from the appreciation of sterling against the Euro and weak growth in 
the EU, China and emerging markets and from the dampening effect of the 
Government’s continuing austerity programme. 

B.3 The referendum vote for Brexit in June 2016 delivered an immediate fall in 
confidence indicators and business surveys at the beginning of August. These 
were interpreted by the Bank of England in its August Inflation Report as 
pointing to an impending sharp slowdown in the economy.  However, 
subsequent monthly surveys have showed an equally sharp recovery in 
confidence and business surveys so that it is generally expected that the 
economy will post reasonably strong growth numbers through the second half 
of 2016 and also in 2017, albeit at a slower pace than in the first half of 2016.  
The fall in the value of sterling has also had a positive effect in boosting 
manufacturing in the UK due to improved competitiveness in world markets. 

B.4 The Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), meeting of 4th August was dominated 
by countering the Bank of England’s expectations of a sharp slowdown in 
growth. This resulted in a package of measures that included:  

 a cut in Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%,  

 a renewal of quantitative easing, with a further £70bn made available 
for purchases of gilts and corporate bonds, and 

 a £100bn tranche of cheap borrowing for banks to use to lend to 
businesses and individuals (Term Funding Scheme). 

B.5 Following robust growth in quarter 3 of +0.6%, plus forward indicating business 
surveys also being very positive on growth, the MPC meeting of 3rd November 
left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.25%. Other monetary policy measures also 
remained unaltered.  This was in line with market expectations, but a major 
change from the previous quarterly Inflation Report MPC meeting of 4th 
August, which had given a strong steer, in its forward guidance, that it was 
likely to cut Bank Rate again, probably by the end of the year if economic data 

Page 101



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 36 

 

turned out as forecast by the Bank.  The MPC meeting of 15th December also 
left the bank rate and other measures unchanged. 

B.6 The latest (November) MPC decision included a forward view that the Bank 
Rate could go either up or down depending on how economic data evolves in 
the coming months.  The central view of the Council’s treasury advisor is that 
Bank Rate will remain unchanged at 0.25% until the first increase to 0.50% in 
quarter 2 of 2019.  However, the risk of a cut in the Bank Rate if economic 
growth were to take a significant dip downwards cannot be discounted, 
although this is unlikely, especially given the run of strong economic data since 
then. Forecasting as far ahead as mid 2019 also remains extremely difficult 
with numerous potential economic headwinds which could blow the UK 
economy one way or the other as well as political developments in the UK, 
(especially over the terms of Brexit), EU, US and beyond, which could have a 
major impact on current forecasts. 

B.7 The pace of Bank Rate increases included in the current forecasts has been 
slightly increased beyond the three year time horizon to reflect higher inflation 
expectations. 

B.8 The August quarterly Inflation Report was based on a pessimistic forecast of 
near to zero GDP growth in quarter 3 i.e. a sharp slowdown in growth from 
+0.7% in quarter 2, in reaction to the shock of the result of the EU referendum 
in June. However, consumers have very much stayed in a ‘business as usual’ 
mode and there has been no sharp downturn in spending; it is consumer 
expenditure that underpins the services sector which comprises about 75% of 
UK GDP.  After a fairly flat three months leading up to October, retail sales in 
quarter 4 grew reasonably strongly, increasing by 1.2% and added 0.1% to 
GDP growth.  In addition, the GfK consumer confidence index has recovered 
quite strongly to -3 in October after an initial sharp plunge in July to -12 in 
reaction to the referendum result. However by December it had fallen back to   
-7 indicating a return to pessimism about future prospects among consumers, 
probably based mainly around concerns about inflation eroding purchasing 
power. 

B.9 Bank of England GDP forecasts in the November quarterly Inflation Report 
were as follows, (August forecasts in brackets) - 2016 +2.2%, (+2.0%); 2017 
1.4%, (+0.8%); 2018 +1.5%, (+1.8%). There has, therefore, been a sharp 
increase in the forecast for 2017, a marginal increase in 2016 and a small 
decline in growth, now being delayed until 2018, as a result of the impact of 
Brexit. 

B.10 In contrast Capital Economics hold the view that pessimism is still being 
overdone by the Bank and Brexit will not have as big an effect as initially feared 
by some commentators. Their GDP forecasts are consequently higher than 
those forecast by the Bank of England in November at +2.0% in 2016, +1.5% 
2017 and +2.5% in 2018. 

B.11 The Chancellor has said he will do ‘whatever is needed’ i.e. to promote growth; 
there are two main options he can follow – fiscal policy e.g. cut taxes, increase 
investment allowances for businesses and/or increase government expenditure 

Page 102



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 37 

 

on infrastructure, housing etc. This will mean that the PSBR deficit elimination 
timetable will need to slip further into the future as promoting growth, (and 
ultimately boosting tax revenues in the longer term), will be a more urgent 
priority.  

B.12 The Governor of the Bank of England, Mark Carney, had warned that a vote for 
Brexit would be likely to cause a slowing in growth, particularly from a reduction 
in business investment, due to the uncertainty of whether the UK would have 
continuing full access, (i.e. without tariffs), to the EU single market.  He also 
warned that the Bank could not do all the heavy lifting to boost economic 
growth and suggested that the Government would need to help growth e.g. by 
increasing investment expenditure and by using fiscal policy tools. The newly 
appointed Chancellor, Phillip Hammond, announced, in the aftermath of the 
referendum result and the formation of a new Conservative cabinet, that the 
target of achieving a budget surplus in 2020 would be eased in the Autumn 
Statement on 23 November.  This was duly confirmed in the Statement which 
also included some increases in infrastructure spending. 

B.13 The other key factor in forecasts for Bank Rate is inflation where the MPC aims 
for a target for CPI of 2.0%. The November Inflation Report included an 
increase in the peak forecast for inflation from 2.3% to 2.7% during 2017 and 
2018; (Capital Economics are forecasting a peak of just under 3% in 2018). 
This increase was largely due to the effect of the sharp fall in the value of 
sterling since the referendum, although during November, sterling recovered 
some of this fall to end up 15% down against the US dollar and 8% down 
against the euro (as at the MPC meeting date 15.12.16). This depreciation will 
feed through into a sharp increase in the cost of imports and materials used in 
production in the UK.  However, the MPC is expected to look through the 
acceleration in inflation caused by external, (outside of the UK), influences, 
although it has given a clear warning that if wage inflation were to rise 
significantly as a result of these cost pressures on consumers, then they would 
take action to raise Bank Rate. The MPC also commented that the partial 
recovery in the value of sterling, if maintained, would cause a small reduction in 
their November forecast rise in CPI inflation above the 2% target rate. 

B.14 What is clear is that consumer disposable income will come under pressure, as 
the latest employers’ survey is forecasting median pay rises for the year ahead 
of only 1.1% at a time when inflation is expected to be significantly higher than 
this.  The CPI figure has been on an upward trend in 2016 reaching 1.2% in 
November and 1.6% in December. Prices paid by factories for inputs are rising 
very strongly although producer output prices are still lagging well behind. 

B.15 Gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, have risen sharply since hitting a low 
point in mid-August. There has also been huge volatility during 2016 as a 
whole.  The year started with 10 year gilt yields at 1.88%, fell to a low point of 
0.53% on 12th August and finished at the end of December at 1.49% after 
some peaks higher during that month.  The rebound since August reflects the 
initial combination of the yield-depressing effect of the MPC’s new round of 
quantitative easing on 4th August, together with a sharp downturn in 
expectations for growth and inflation as per the pessimistic Bank of England 
Inflation Report forecast, followed by a sharp rise in growth expectations since 

Page 103



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 38 

 

August when subsequent business surveys and GDP growth in quarter 3 at + 
0.6% q/q, confounded the pessimism.  Inflation expectations also rose sharply 
as a result of the continuing fall in the value of sterling. 

B.16 Employment had been growing steadily during 2016 but encountered a first fall in 
over a year, of 6,000, over the three months to October. The latest employment 
data in December, (for November), was distinctly weak with an increase in 
unemployment benefits claimants of 2,400 in November and of 13,300 in October. 
The unemployment rate for September to November 2016 was 4.8%, down from 
5.1% for a year earlier.  The employment rate (age 16-64 years) for September to 
November 2016 stands at 74.5%, up from 74% a year ago.  House prices have 
been rising during 2016 at a modest pace but the pace of increase has slowed 
since the referendum; a downturn in prices could dampen consumer confidence 
and expenditure. 

USA  

B.17 The American economy had a patchy 2015 with sharp swings in the quarterly 
growth rate leaving overall growth for the year at 2.4%. Quarter 1 of 2016 at 
+0.8%, (on an annualised basis) and quarter 2 at 1.4% left average growth for 
the first half at a weak 1.1%.  However, quarter 3 at 3.5% (on an annualised 
basis), signalled a rebound to strong growth.  

B.18 The Federal Reserve embarked its long anticipated first increase in rates at its 
December 2015 meeting.  At that point, confidence was high that there would 
then be four more increases to come in 2016.  Since then, more downbeat 
news on the international scene and then the Brexit vote, have caused a delay 
in the timing of the second increase of 0.25% which came, as expected, in 
December 2016 to a range of 0.50% to 0.75%.   

B.19 Overall, despite some data setbacks, the US is still probably the best 
positioned of the major world economies to make solid progress towards a 
combination of strong growth, full employment and rising inflation. This is going 
to require the central bank to take action to raise rates so as to make progress 
towards normalisation of monetary policy, albeit at lower central rates than 
prevailed before the 2008 crisis. The Federal Reserve therefore also indicated 
that it expected three further increases of 0.25% in 2017 to deal with rising 
inflationary pressures.   

B.20 The result of the presidential election in November is expected to lead to a 
strengthening of US growth if Trump’s election promise of a major increase in 
expenditure on infrastructure is implemented.  This policy is also likely to 
strengthen inflation pressures as the economy is already working at near full 
capacity. In addition, the unemployment rate is at a low point verging on what is 
normally classified as being full employment.  However, the US does have a 
substantial amount of hidden unemployment in terms of an unusually large, (for 
a developed economy), percentage of the working population not actively 
seeking employment. 

B.21 Trump’s election has had a profound effect on the bond market and bond yields 
rose sharply in the week after his election.  Time will tell if this is a reasonable 

Page 104



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 39 

 

assessment of his election promises to cut taxes at the same time as boosting 
expenditure.  This could lead to a sharp rise in total debt issuance from the 
current level of around 72% of GDP towards 100% during his term in office. 
However, although the Republicans now have a monopoly of power for the first 
time since the 1920s, in having a President and a majority in both Congress 
and the Senate, there is by no means any certainty that the politicians and 
advisers he has been appointing to his team, and both houses, will implement 
the more extreme policies that Trump outlined during his election campaign.  
Indeed, Trump may even rein back on some of those policies himself. 

B.22 In the first week following the US election, there was a major shift in investor 
sentiment away from bonds to equities, especially in the US. However, gilt 
yields in the UK and bond yields in the EU have also been dragged higher.  
Some commentators are saying that this rise has been an overreaction to the 
US election result which could be reversed.  Other commentators take the view 
that this could well be the start of the long expected eventual unwinding of bond 
prices propelled upwards to unrealistically high levels, (and conversely bond 
yields pushed down), by the artificial and temporary power of quantitative 
easing. 

Eurozone 

B.23 In the Eurozone, the European Central Bank (ECB) commenced, in March 
2015, its massive €1.1 trillion programme of quantitative easing to buy high 
credit quality government and other debt of selected EZ countries at a rate of 
€60bn per month.  This was intended to run initially to September 2016 but was 
extended to March 2017 at its December 2015 meeting.  At its December and 
March 2016 meetings it progressively cut its deposit facility rate to reach -0.4% 
and its main refinancing rate from 0.05% to zero.  At its March meeting, it also 
increased its monthly asset purchases to €80bn.  These measures have 
struggled to make a significant impact in boosting economic growth and in 
helping inflation to rise significantly from low levels towards the target of 2%.  

B.24 Consequently, at its December meeting it extended its asset purchases 
programme by continuing purchases at the current monthly pace of €80 billion 
until the end of March 2017, but then continuing at a pace of €60 billion until the 
end of December 2017, or beyond, if necessary, and in any case until the 
Governing Council sees a sustained adjustment in the path of inflation 
consistent with its inflation aim. It also stated that if, in the meantime, the 
outlook were to become less favourable or if financial conditions became 
inconsistent with further progress towards a sustained adjustment of the path of 
inflation, the Governing Council intended to increase the programme in terms of 
size and/or duration. 

B.25 Economic growth in the Eurozone in the first three quarters of 2016 has been 
+0.5%, +0.3% and +0.3%, (+1.7% y/y).  Forward indications are that economic 
growth in the EU is likely to continue at moderate levels. This has added to 
comments from many forecasters that those central banks in countries around 
the world which are currently struggling to combat low growth, are running out 
of ammunition to stimulate growth and to boost inflation. Central banks have 
also been stressing that national governments will need to do more by way of 

Page 105



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 40 

 

structural reforms, fiscal measures and direct investment expenditure to 
support demand and economic growth in their economies. 

B.26 There are also significant specific political and other risks within the Eurozone: -   

 Greece continues to cause major stress in the EU due to its tardiness 
and reluctance in implementing key reforms required by the EU to 
make the country more efficient and to make significant progress 
towards the country being able to pay its way – and before the EU is 
prepared to agree to release further bail out funds. 

 Spain has had two inconclusive general elections in 2015 and 2016, 
both of which failed to produce a workable government with a majority 
of the 350 seats. At the eleventh hour on 31 October, before it would 
have become compulsory to call a third general election, the party with 
the biggest bloc of seats (137), was given a majority confidence vote to 
form a government. This is potentially a highly unstable situation, 
particularly given the need to deal with an EU demand for 
implementation of a package of austerity cuts which will be highly 
unpopular. 

 The under capitalisation of Italian banks poses a major risk. The longer 
this issue remains unresolved, the greater the likelihood that exposed 
banks will suffer an outflow of liquidity and so the bigger the cost will 
become to remedy the situation. Some German banks are also 
undercapitalised, especially Deutsche Bank, which is under threat of 
major financial penalties from regulatory authorities that will further 
weaken its capitalisation.  What is clear is that national governments 
are forbidden by EU rules from providing state aid to bail out those 
banks that are at risk, while, at the same time, those banks are unable 
realistically to borrow additional capital in financial markets due to their 
vulnerable financial state. However, they are also ‘too big, and too 
important to their national economies, to be allowed to fail’. 

 4th December Italian constitutional referendum on reforming the 
Senate and reducing its powers; this was also a confidence vote on 
Prime Minister Renzi who has resigned on losing the referendum.  
However, there has been remarkably little fall out from this result which 
probably indicates that the financial markets had already fully priced it 
in. A rejection of these proposals is likely to inhibit significant progress 
in the near future to fundamental political and economic reform which is 
urgently needed to deal with Italy’s core problems, especially low 
growth and a very high debt to GDP ratio of 135%. These reforms were 
also intended to give Italy more stable government as no western 
European country has had such a multiplicity of governments since the 
Second World War as Italy, due to the equal split of power between the 
two chambers of the Parliament which are both voted in by the Italian 
electorate but by using different voting systems. It is currently unclear 
what the political, and other, repercussions are from this result.  

 Dutch general election 15.3.17; a far right party is currently polling neck 
and neck with the incumbent ruling party. However, the proportional 
voting system means there are a multiplicity of parties so each general 

Page 106



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 41 

 

election results in an exercise in gathering a viable coalition after the 
results are in. In addition, anti-big business and anti-EU activists have 
already collected two thirds of the 300,000 signatures required to force 
a referendum to be taken on approving the EU – Canada free trade 
pact. This could delay the pact until a referendum in 2018 which would 
require unanimous approval by all EU governments before it can be 
finalised. In April 2016, Dutch voters rejected by 61.1% an EU – 
Ukraine cooperation pact under the same referendum law. Dutch 
activists are concerned by the lack of democracy in the institutions of 
the EU. 

 French presidential election; first round 13 April; second round 7 May 
2017. 

 French National Assembly election June 2017. 

 German Federal election August – 22 October 2017.  This could be 
affected by significant shifts in voter intentions as a result of terrorist 
attacks, dealing with a huge influx of immigrants and a rise in anti EU 
sentiment. 

 The core EU,(rather than just the Eurozone currency area), principle of 
free movement of people within the EU is a growing issue leading to 
major stress and tension between EU states, especially with the 
Visegrad bloc of former communist states. 

B.27 Given the number and type of challenges the EU faces in the next eighteen 
months, there is an identifiable risk for the EU project to be called into 
fundamental question. The risk of an electoral revolt against the EU 
establishment has gained traction after the shock results of the UK referendum 
and the US Presidential election.  But it remains to be seen whether any shift in 
sentiment will gain sufficient traction to produce any further shocks within the 
EU. The risks are increasing that voter dissatisfaction with the EU could lead to 
another country lining up after the UK, to leave the EU, unless the EU positively 
addresses the major challenges it faces over the next few years. 

Asia. 

B.28 Economic growth in China has been weakening despite successive rounds of 
central bank stimulus. This has, in turn, been denting economic growth in 
emerging market countries dependent on exporting raw materials to China.  
Medium term risks have also been increasing in China. These include a 
dangerous build up in the level of credit compared to the size of GDP and a 
need to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit 
systems. In addition major progress still needs to be made to address a major 
over supply of housing and surplus industrial capacity, both of which need to be 
eliminated.  This needs to be combined with a rebalancing of the economy from 
investment expenditure to consumer spending. The Chinese central bank has a 
track record of supporting growth through various monetary policy measures, 
though these further stimulate the growth of credit risks and so increase the 
existing major imbalances within the economy. 

Page 107



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 42 

 

B.29 Japan has continued to struggle to gain consistent significant economic growth (but 
has achieved an annualised rate in quarter 3 of +2.7%, (Q2 +2.6%). It has also 
been struggling to put deflation firmly behind it and get inflation up to reasonable 
levels, despite successive rounds of huge monetary stimulus and massive fiscal 
action to promote consumer spending. The government is also making little 
progress on fundamental reforms of the economy. 

Emerging countries 

B.30 There have been major concerns around the vulnerability of some emerging 
countries exposed to the downturn in demand for commodities from China or to 
competition from the increase in supply of American shale oil and gas reaching 
world markets. The ending of sanctions on Iran has also brought a further 
significant increase in oil supplies into the world markets.  While these 
concerns have subsided during 2016, if interest rates in the USA do rise 
substantially over the next few years, (and this could also be accompanied by a 
rise in the value of the dollar in exchange markets), this could cause significant 
problems for those emerging countries with large amounts of debt denominated 
in dollars.  The Bank of International Settlements has recently released a report 
that $340bn of emerging market corporate debt will fall due for repayment in 
the final two months of 2016 and in 2017 – a 40% increase on the figure for the 
last three years. 

B.31 Financial markets could also be vulnerable to risks from those emerging 
countries with major sovereign wealth funds, that are highly exposed to the falls 
in commodity prices from the levels prevailing before 2015, especially oil, and 
which, therefore, may have to liquidate substantial amounts of investments in 
order to cover national budget deficits over the next few years if the price of oil 
does not return to pre-2015 levels. 

Page 108



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 43 

 

Appendix C: Credit Ratings  

International long-term credit ratings 

Fitch Moody’s Standard 

& Poor’s 

Definition   Permitted 

counter-

party 

Investment Grade 

AAA Aaa AAA Highest quality/Best quality/Extremely strong Yes 

AA Aa AA Very high quality/High quality/Very strong Yes 

A A A High quality/Upper medium grade/Strong Yes* 

BBB Baa BBB Good quality/Medium grade/Adequate No 

Non-investment/speculative grade 

BB Ba BB 
Speculative/Lower medium grade/Speculative – 
Less vulnerable 

No 

B B B Highly speculative/Low grade/More vulnerable No 

CCC Caa CCC Poor quality/Currently vulnerable No 

CC Ca CC 
High default risk/Highly speculative/Currently 
highly vulnerable 

No 

C C C 
High default risk/Extremely poor/Imminent 
default 

No 

D  D In default No 

*except non UK sovereigns 

Note: Fitch Ratings and Standard and Poor’s ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of 
a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories. Moody’s append 
numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa to denote relative 
status. 

 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110



Page 111

Agenda Item 8



Page 112



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council

Year ending 31 March 2017

John Farrar
Engagement Lead
T 0161 234 6384 or 07880 456200
E john.farrar@uk.gt.com
Richard McGahon
Engagement Manager
T 0141 223 0889 0889 or 07880 456156
E richard.a.mcgahon@uk.gt.com
Richard Anderson
In Charge Auditor
T 0141 223 0753
E richard.j.anderson@uk.gt.com

February 2017

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 9



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Chartered Accountants
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.
A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and
its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details.

This Audit Plan  sets out for the benefit of those charged with governance (in the case of Allerdale Borough Council, the Audit Committee), an overview of the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260. This document is to help you understand the consequences of our 
work, discuss issues of risk and the concept of materiality with us, and identify any areas where you may request us to undertake additional procedures. It also helps us gain a 
better understanding of the Council and your environment. The contents of the Plan have been discussed with management. 
We are required to perform our audit in line with Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and in accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the National Audit Office 
(NAO) on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2015. Our responsibilities under the Code are to:

- give an opinion on the Council's financial statements
-satisfy ourselves the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

As auditors we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and 
expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial 
statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair 
view.
The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process.  
It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change. In particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks 
which may affect the Council or all weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared solely for your benefit. We do not accept any responsibility for any 
loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other 
purpose. 
We look forward to working with you during the course of the audit.
Yours sincerely
John Farrar
Engagement Lead

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
4 Hardman Square
Spinningfields
Manchester
M3 3EB
T +44 (0161) 234 6384
www.grant-thornton.co.uk February 2017

Dear Members of the Audit Committee
Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council for the year ending 31 March 2017

Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
Workington
Cumbria  CA14 3YJ

P
age 114



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Contents
Section
Understanding your business and key developments 4 
Materiality 5 
Significant risks identified 6
Other risks identified 8
Group audit scope and risk assessment 10
Value for Money 11
Other audit responsibilities 13
The audit cycle 14
Audit fees 15
Independence and non-audit services 16
Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance 17

3

P
age 115



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council |  2016/17

Understanding your business and key developments
Key challenges Financial reporting changes

Our response
 We aim to complete all our substantive audit work on your financial statements by mid August 2017.
 As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements accurately reflect the financial reporting changes in the 2016/17 Code. 
 We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2016/17 through on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.
 We will consider the Council's accounting for the assets invested in the AIP and the status of any projects which may be approaching sale.

Autumn Statement 2016 and 
financial health
The Chancellor detailed plans in the 
Autumn Statement to increase funding 
for Housing and Infrastructure, and 
further extend devolved powers to 
Local Authorities.

The Council’s medium term financial 
plan outlines that in order for the 
Council to continue to deliver a 
balanced budget it will need to deliver 
a package of self- sufficiency savings 
totalling £3.473 million over the period 
2015/16 to 2018/19.

Allerdale Investment Partnership
The AIP is a joint venture formed by 
Allerdale Borough Council and the 
Lucent Strategic Land Fund. It aims to 
support the sustained growth and 
development of local communities 
across the Allerdale area through 
investment in capital projects.
We are aware that projects are in 
different states of development, with the 
Lidl development on land at Miltofts, 
Maryport being completed in March 
2016.

CIPFA Code of Practice 2016/17 (the 
Code)
Changes to the Code in  2016/17 reflect 
aims of the 'Telling the Story' project, to 
streamline the financial statements to be 
more in line with internal organisational 
reporting and improve accessibility to the 
reader of the financial statements.
The changes affect the presentation of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (CIES) and the Movement in 
Reserves Statements (MIRS), segmental 
reporting disclosures and a new 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis note has 
been introduced. The Code also requires 
these amendments to be reflected in the 
2015/16 comparatives.

Earlier closedown
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
require councils to bring forward the approval 
and audit of financial statements to 31 July 
by the 2017/18 financial year.
For 2016/17, the audit is scheduled for July 
and August 2017. It is anticipated that the 
Audit Findings Report will be presented to 
the Audit Committee on 21 August 2017.

4

P
age 116



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Materiality
In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (ISA) 320: Materiality in planning and 
performing an audit. The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but 
also to disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. An item does not necessarily have to be large to be considered to have a material effect on 
the financial statements. An item may be considered to be material by nature, for example, when greater precision is required (e.g. senior manager salaries and allowances). 
We determine planning materiality (materiality for the financial statements as a whole determined at the planning stage of the audit) in order to estimate the tolerable level of misstatement in 
the financial statements, assist in establishing the scope of our audit engagement and audit tests, calculate sample sizes and assist in evaluating the effect of known and likely misstatements in 
the financial statements.
We have determined planning materiality based upon professional judgement in the context of our knowledge of the Council. In line with previous years, we have calculated financial 
statements materiality based on a proportion of the gross revenue expenditure of the Council. For purposes of planning the audit we have determined overall materiality to be £948,000 
(being 1.75% of gross revenue expenditure). Our assessment of materiality is kept under review throughout the audit process and we will advise you if we revise this during the audit.
Under ISA 450, auditors also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because 
we would not expect that the accumulation of such amounts would have a material effect on the financial statements. "Trivial" matters are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually 
or in aggregate and whether judged by any criteria of size, nature or circumstances. We have defined the amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £47,000.
ISA 320 also requires auditors to determine separate, lower, materiality levels where there  are 'particular classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures for which misstatements of 
lesser amounts than materiality for the financial statements as a whole could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users'. We have identified the following items 
where separate materiality levels are appropriate:

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality Level
Member Allowances Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made.
£20,000

Disclosures of officers' remuneration, salary bandings and 
exit packages in the notes to the financial statements

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 
them to be made.

£20,000

Related Party Transactions Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 
them to be made.

£20,000 – individual mis-statements will 
also be evaluated with reference to how 
material they are to the other party.

5

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 
or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 
of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK and Ireland) 320)

P
age 117



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Significant risks identified
An audit is focused on risks. Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK and Ireland) as risks that, in the judgment of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In 
identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher 
risk of material misstatement.

Significant risk Description Audit procedures
The revenue cycle
includes fraudulent 
transactions

Under ISA (UK and Ireland) 240 there is a presumed 
risk that revenue streams may be misstated due to the 
improper recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 
concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at 
Allerdale Borough Council, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue 
recognition can be rebutted, because:
• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition
• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited
• The culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Allerdale Borough Council, 

mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable
Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Allerdale Borough Council.

Management over-
ride of controls

Under ISA (UK and Ireland) 240 there is a non-
rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of management 
over-ride of controls is present in all entities.

Work planned:
 Review of accounting estimates, judgments and decisions made by management
 Review of journal entry process and selection of unusual journal entries for testing back to 

supporting documentation
 Review of unusual significant transactions

6

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or 
nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." 
(ISA (UK and Ireland) 315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's 
normal course of business as giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK and Ireland) 550)

P
age 118



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Significant risks identified (continued)
Significant risk Description Audit procedures
Valuation of pension fund net 
liability

The Council's pension fund asset 
and liability as reflected in its 
balance sheet represent significant 
estimates in the financial 
statements.

Work planned:
 We will identify the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability is not 

materially misstated. We will also assess whether these controls were implemented as expected and 
whether they are sufficient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement

 We will review the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out your pension 
fund valuation. We will gain an understanding of the basis on which the valuation is carried out

 We will undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made
 We will review the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the 

financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary

Valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and investment 
property

The Council revalues its assets on 
a rolling basis over a five year 
period. The Code requires that the 
Council ensures that  the carrying 
value at the balance sheet date is 
not materially different from current 
value. This represents a significant 
estimate by management in the 
financial statements. 
The Council’s new leisure centre 
opened in September 2016, this is 
the first year that it will be valued as 
an operational asset. We expect 
there to be heightened public 
interest in disclosures relating to the 
leisure centre and its valuation in 
the accounts. 

Work planned:
 Review of management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate
 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used
 For any valuation undertaken, we will:

- review  the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work
- communicate with the valuer about the basis on which the valuation is carried out and 

challenge of the key assumptions
- review and challenge the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent 

with our understanding, and
- undertake testing revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the 

Council's asset register
 evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and 

how management has satisfied themselves that these are not materially different to current value.

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to date 
and the work we plan to address these risks.

7

P
age 119



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Other risks identified
Reasonably possible risks (RPRs) are, in the auditor's judgment, other risk areas which the auditor has identified as an area where the likelihood of material misstatement 
cannot be reduced to remote, without the need for gaining an understanding of the associated control environment, along with the performance of an appropriate level of 
substantive work. The risk of misstatement for an RPR or other risk is lower than that for a significant risk, and they are not considered to be areas that are highly 
judgmental, or unusual in relation to the day to day activities of the business.

Reasonably possible risks Description of risk Audit procedures
Operating expenses Creditors understated or not recorded in 

the correct period.
Work planned:
 Documenting our understanding of the process, identification of controls and undertaking a 

walkthrough
 Reviewing accounting estimates, judgments and the accruals accounting process.
 Testing of payments made after the year-end to identify potential unrecorded liabilities and gain 

assurance over the completeness of the payables balance in the accounts.

Employee remuneration Employee remuneration accruals are 
understated

Work planned:
 Documenting our understanding of the process, identification of controls and undertaking a 

walkthrough
 Testing the reconciliation of payroll expenditure recorded in the general ledger to the subsidiary 

systems and interfaces
 Analysis of trends and relationships to identify any anomalous areas for further investigation
 Testing to confirm the completeness of payroll transactions and appropriate cut-off.

8

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 
relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 
processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 
(ISA (UK and Ireland) 315) 

P
age 120



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Other risks identified (continued)

Other material balances and transactions
Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for 
each material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures 
will not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in the previous sections but will include:

• Heritage assets
• Assets held for sale
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Borrowings and other liabilities (long and short term)
• Provisions
• Useable and unusable reserves
• Movement in Reserves Statement and associated notes
• Statement of cash flows and associated notes

• Financing and investment income and expenditure
• Taxation and non-specific grants
• Officers' remuneration note
• Leases note
• Related party transactions note
• Capital expenditure and capital financing note
• Financial instruments note
• Collection Fund and associated notes

9

Going concern
As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” 
(ISA (UK and Ireland) 570). We will review the management's assessment of the going concern assumption and the disclosures in the financial statements. 

Other risks Description Audit procedures
Changes to the 
presentation of 
Council's financial 
statements.

CIPFA Code changes 
'Telling the story' –
restatement of CIES and 
MIRS plus additional note 
disclosures

Work planned:
 Document and evaluate the process for recording the required financial reporting change to the 2016/17 financial statements; 

and
 Review the reclassification of the CIES comparatives to ensure that they are in line with the Council's internal reporting 

structures;
 Review the appropriateness of the revised grouping of entries within the MIRS;
 Test the classification of income and expenditure for 2016/17 recorded within the cost of services section of the CIES; and
 Review the new segmental reporting disclosures within the 2016/17 financial statements to ensure compliance with the CIPFA 

Code of Practice.

P
age 121



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Group audit scope and risk assessment
In accordance with ISA (UK and Ireland) 600, as group auditor we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
components and the consolidation process to express an opinion on whether the group financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

Components Significant? Level of response required under ISA 600 Risks identified Planned audit approach
Keswick Museum and Art Gallery 
(KMAG)

No Analytical N/A Desktop review performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP

Allerdale Investment Partnership (AIP) No Analytical N/A Desktop review performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP

Audit scope:
Comprehensive – the component is of such significance to the group as a whole that an audit of the 
components financial statements is required
Targeted – the component is significant to the Group, audit evidence will be obtained by performing 
targeted audit procedures rather than a full audit
Analytical – the component is not significant to the Group and audit risks can be addressed sufficiently 
by applying analytical procedures at the Group level

P
age 122



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Value for Money
Background
The Code requires us to consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money (VfM) conclusion. 
The National Audit Office (NAO) issued its guidance for auditors on value for money work for 2016/17 in November 2016. The guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether the Council has proper arrangements in place.
The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 
In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 
This is supported by three sub-criteria as set out opposite:

Sub-criteria Detail
Informed decision 
making

• Acting in the public interest, through demonstrating and 
applying the principles and values of sound governance

• Understanding and using appropriate cost and 
performance information (including, where relevant, 
information from regulatory/monitoring bodies) to 
support informed decision making and performance 
management

• Reliable and timely financial reporting that supports the 
delivery of strategic priorities

• Managing risks effectively and maintaining a sound system 
of internal control

Sustainable 
resource 
deployment

• Planning finances effectively to support the sustainable 
delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory 
functions

• Managing and utilising assets effectively to support the 
delivery of strategic priorities

• Planning, organising and developing the workforce 
effectively to deliver strategic priorities.

Working with 
partners and 
other third parties

• Working with third parties effectively to deliver strategic 
priorities

• Commissioning services effectively to support the 
delivery of strategic priorities

• Procuring supplies and services effectively to support the 
delivery of strategic priorities.

11

P
age 123



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Value for Money (continued)
Risk assessment
We shall carry out an initial risk assessment based on the NAO's auditor's guidance note (AGN03). In our initial risk assessment, we will consider:
• our cumulative knowledge of the Council, including work performed in previous years in respect of the VfM conclusion and the opinion on the financial statements.
• the findings of other inspectorates and review agencies.
• any illustrative significant risks identified and communicated by the NAO in its Supporting Information.
• any other evidence which we consider necessary to conclude on your arrangements.

12

Reporting
The results of our VfM audit work and the key messages arising will be reported in our Audit Findings Report and in the Annual Audit Letter. 

We will include our conclusion in our auditor's report on your financial statements. We will only report by exception in our auditor's report where we are not satisfied that the Council has proper arrangements in place to secure value for money. 

P
age 124



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Other audit responsibilities

13

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice in relation to your financial statements and arrangements for economy, efficiency and effectiveness we 
have a number of other audit responsibilities, as follows:
• We will undertake work to satisfy ourselves that the disclosures made in your Annual Governance Statement are in line with CIPFA/SOLACE guidance and 

consistent with our knowledge of the Council.
• We will read your Narrative Statement and check that it is consistent with the financial statements on which we give an  opinion and that the disclosures included 

in it are in line with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.
• We will carry out work on your  consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government Accounts process in accordance with NAO instructions to auditors.
• We consider our other duties under the Act and the Code, as and when required, including:

• We will give electors the opportunity to raise questions about your financial statements and consider and decide upon any objections received in relation to 
the financial statements;

• issue of a report in the public interest; and
• making a written recommendation to the Council, copied to the Secretary of State.

• We certify completion of our audit. 

P
age 125



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

The audit cycle
The audit timeline

Key dates:

Audit phases:

Year end: 
31st March 2017

Close out: 
August 2017

Audit committee: 
21 August 2017

Sign off: 
August 2017

Planning 
February 2017

Interim  
February – March 2017

Final  
July - August 2017

Completion  
August  2017

Key elements
 Planning meeting with management to 

inform audit planning and agree audit 
timetable

 Discussions with Internal Audit to 
inform audit planning

 Discuss draft Audit Plan with 
management

 Issue the Audit Plan to management 
and Audit Committee

 Meeting with Audit Committee to 
discuss the Audit Plan

Key elements
 Document design effectiveness of key 

accounting systems and processes
 Review of key judgements and 

estimates
 Early substantive audit testing
 Review of Value for Money 

arrangements
 Issue Progress report to management 

and Audit Committee

Key elements
 Audit teams onsite to complete 

detailed audit testing
 Weekly update meetings with 

management
 Review of Value for Money 

arrangements

Key elements
 Issue draft Audit Findings to 

management
 Meeting with management to discuss 

Audit Findings
 Issue draft Audit Findings to Audit 

Committee
 Audit Findings presentation to Audit 

Committee
 Finalise approval and signing of 

financial statements and audit report
 Submission of WGA assurance 

statement
 Annual Audit Letter

Debrief 
October 2017

P
age 126



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Fees
£

Council audit 48,128
Grant Certification 13,118
Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 61,246

Audit Fees

Our fee assumptions include:
 Supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts are supplied by the 

agreed dates and in accordance with the agreed upon information 
request list

 The scope of the audit, and the Council and its activities, have not 
changed significantly

 The Council will make available management and accounting staff to 
help us locate information and to provide explanations

 The accounts presented for audit are materially accurate, supporting 
working papers and evidence agree to the accounts, and all audit 
queries are resolved promptly.

Grant certification
 Our fees for grant certification cover only housing benefit subsidy 

certification, which falls under the remit of Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited

 Fees in respect of other grant work, such as reasonable assurance 
reports, are shown under 'Fees for other services'.

What is included within our fees
 A reliable and risk-focused audit appropriate for your business
 Invitations to events hosted by Grant Thornton in your sector, as well as the wider 

finance community
 Regular sector updates
 Ad-hoc telephone calls and queries
 Technical briefings and updates
 A review of accounting policies for appropriateness and consistency
 Regular Audit Committee Progress Reports

Fees for other services
There are no fees for other services at the time of issuing our Audit Plan. Any changes 
will be reported in our Audit Findings Report and Annual Audit Letter.

P
age 127



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Independence
Ethical Standards and ISA (UK and Ireland) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of matters relating to our independence. In this context, we disclose the following 
to you:

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have 
complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and we confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

P
age 128



©  2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   The Audit Plan for  Allerdale Borough Council  |  2016/17

Communication of  audit matters with those charged with governance
Our communication plan

Audit 
Plan

Audit 
Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those 
charged with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 
and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 
during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  
A statement that we have complied with  relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence,  relationships and other 
matters which might  be thought to bear on independence. 
Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 
network firms, together with  fees charged.  
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 
Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or 
others which results in material misstatement of the financial 
statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 
Expected modifications to the auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 
Uncorrected misstatements 
Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 
Significant matters in relation to going concern  
Matters in relation to the group audit, including:
Scope of work on components, involvement of group auditors in 
component audits, concerns over quality of component auditors' 
work, limitations of scope on the group audit, fraud or suspected 
fraud

 

International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs (UK 
and Ireland) prescribe matters which we are required to communicate with those 
charged with governance, and which we set out in the table opposite.  
This document, The Audit Plan, outlines our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, 
while The Audit Findings will be issued prior to approval of the financial statements  and 
will present key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together with an 
explanation as to how these have been resolved.
We will communicate any adverse or unexpected findings affecting the audit on a timely 
basis, either informally or via a report to the Council.

Respective responsibilities
As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit in accordance with ISAs (UK and 
Ireland), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged 
with governance.
This plan has been prepared in the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of 
Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/)
We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies 
in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a broad remit 
covering finance and governance matters. 
Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the 
Code') issued by the NAO and includes nationally prescribed and locally determined 
work (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/). Our work considers the 
CCG's key risks when reaching our conclusions under the Code. 
The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with 
governance of their responsibilities.
It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for 
the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these responsibilities.

17

P
age 129



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 
'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership. 
Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide services to clients. 
grant-thornton.co.uk

18

P
age 130


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Assurance Risk and Audit Quarter three Report 2016/17
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	COMPLETE
	COMPLETE
	INCOMPLETE
	INCOMPLETE
	COMPLETE

	Appendix C

	6 Assurance, Risk and Audit Strategy 2017/18
	Strategic Plan 2017/18

	7 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18
	Appendix 1 -TMSS Investment strategy  MRP policy statement 2017-2018.pdf

	8 Certification Letter
	9 Audit Plan

